## Human and Parasitic Papain-Like Cysteine Proteases: Their Role in Physiology and Pathology and Recent Developments in Inhibitor Design

Fabien Lecaille,<sup>†</sup> Jadwiga Kaleta,<sup>‡</sup> and Dieter Brömme<sup>\*,†</sup>

Mount Sinai School of Medicine, Department of Human Genetics, Fifth Avenue at 100th Street, New York, New York 10029, USA, and NAEJA Pharmaceuticals Inc., 2,4290-91 A Street, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6E 5V2

Received April 11, 2002

## **Contents**

1. Introduction	4459
<ol> <li>Papain-Like Cysteine Proteases: Structure, Mechanism, Expression, Substrate Specificity, and Physiological Functions</li> </ol>	4460
2.1. Amino Acid Sequences and Evolutionary Relatedness	4460
2.2 Catalytic Mechanism of Cathensins	4461
<ol> <li>Intracellular and Tissue Distribution, Substrate Specificity, and Physiological Functions</li> </ol>	4461
3. Pathophysiological Implications of Papain-Like Cysteine Protease Activities	4468
3.1. Systemic Human Diseases	4468
3.1.1. Osteoporosis	4468
3.1.2. Rheumatoid Arthritis	4469
3.1.3. Atherosclerosis	4470
3.1.4. Cancer	4470
3.1.5. Inflammation and Immune System-Related Diseases	4471
3.1.6. Allergic Inflammation/Asthma	4472
3.2. Parasitic Infections	4472
3.2.1. Malaria	4472
3.2.2. American Trypanosomiasis (Chagas' Disease)	4473
3.2.3. African Trypanosomiasis	4474
3.2.4. Leishmaniasis	4474
3.2.5. Giardiasis	4475
3.2.6. Trichomoniasis	4475
3.2.7. Amoebiasis	4475
3.2.8. Schistosomiasis	4476
3.2.9. Fascioliasis	4476
3.2.10. Paragonimiasis	4477
3.2.11. Intestinal Nematodes (Roundworms) Infections	4477
<ol> <li>Recent Developments in Inhibitors Design for Cysteine Proteases</li> </ol>	4478
4.1. Diacyl Bis Hydrazides	4478
4.2. Diamino Pyrrolidinone	4478
4.3. Aldehydes	4478
4.4. Acyclic and Cyclic Ketones	4479

\* Correspondence to Dieter Brömme, Ph.D., Department of Human Genetics, Box 1498, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, Fifth Avenue at 100 Street, New York, NY 10029-6574, Phone: 212-659-6753, Fax: 212-849-2508, e-mail: Dieter.Bromme@mssm.edu. † Mount Sinai School of Medicine.

<sup>‡</sup> NAEJA Pharmaceuticals Inc.

4.5. Nitriles	4479
4.6. Epoxysuccinyl Analogs	4479
4.7. $\beta$ -Lactams	4483
4.8. Vinyl Sulfones	4483
5. Conclusions	4483
6. Acknowledgments	4484
7. References	4484

## 1. Introduction

Proteases can be categorized based on their substrate specificities or mechanisms of catalysis. Enzymes cleaving within a polypeptide chain are named endopeptidases, and activities cleaving at the ends of polypeptides are named exopeptidases. Aminopeptidases cleave at the N-terminus and carboxypeptidases cleave at the C-terminus of substrates. Upon the basis of the mechanism of peptide hydrolysis, five major protease classes are known: serine, cysteine, aspartic, threonine, and metallo-proteases. This review will focus on papain-like cysteine proteases, the largest subfamily among the cysteine protease class (clan CA, family C1). Papain-like cysteine proteases are widely expressed throughout the animal and plant kingdoms and have also been identified in viruses and bacteria. Mammalian papain-like cysteine proteases are also known as thiol-dependent cathepsins. From a pharmaceutical point of view, these proteases have obtained little attention since it was thought that their functions are restricted to the nonspecific degradation of proteins in lysosomes or equivalent cellular compartments. Recent progress in the understanding of the physiological roles of these enzymes using protease-deficient mouse models has changed this view. It becomes more and more transparent that papain-like cysteine proteases fulfill specific functions in extracellular matrix turnover, antigen presentation, and processing events and that they may represent viable drug targets for major diseases such as osteoporosis, arthritis, immunerelated diseases, atherosclerosis, cancer, and for a wide variety of parasitic infections. This review will summarize the biochemistry of human and parasite cysteine proteases and recent developments in inhibitors design, and will focus on their role in physiology and pathology.



Fabien Lecaille was born in 1972 and obtained his Ph.D. in Biochemistry (2000) at the Francois Rabelais University in Tours (France). His work focused on the regulation of parasite cysteine proteases by peptidyl substrates and inhibitors under the guidance of Dr. Gilles Lalmanach. Since 2001, he has been working with Dr. Dieter Brömme on human cathepsin K collagenase activity.



Jadwiga Kaleta obtained her M.Sc. in Biological Sciences, Specialization in Biochemistry from the University of Lodz (Poland) in 1975. Before immigrating to Canada in 1981, she worked at the Polish Academy of Sciences in a field of biogenic amines, gaining experience in neurotransmitter studies and their pharmacological applications. In Canada, she joined SynPhar Laboratories in Edmonton, which became NAEJA Pharmaceutical in 1999, and is presently Associate Director of Enzymology with a focus on assay developments for bacterial, fungal, and mammalian enzymes. Her main interest is directed to the utilization of small molecular weight inhibitors for proteases, in particular for cysteine proteases.

## 2. Papain-Like Cysteine Proteases: Structure, Mechanism, Expression, Substrate Specificity, and Physiological Functions

# 2.1. Amino Acid Sequences and Evolutionary Relatedness

On the basis of the human genome database, 11 papain-like cathepsins are expressed in the human genome. All of them had been cloned and at least partially characterized before the completion of the sequencing of the human genome. Several dozens of cysteine proteases have been identified in various parasitic organisms, and their number is steadily growing. All papain-like cysteine proteases have in common that they consist of a signal peptide, a propeptide, and a catalytic domain with the latter representing the mature proteolytically active enzyme. Table 1 summarizes the length of the protease domains and their appropriate calculated molecular



Dieter Brömme, born in 1955, studied Biochemistry from 1975 to 1980 at the Martin-Luther-University of Halle (GDR). In 1983, he received his Ph.D. under the guidance of Prof. Dr. Rolf Kleine from the same university. In 1991, he joined the Biotechnology Research Institute (NRC) in Montreal (Canada) and moved in 1993 to California to join a Biotech Startup company (Khepri Pharmaceuticals; South San Francisco). In 1997, he returned to academia as an Associate Professor of Human Genetics at the Mount Sinai School of Medicine in New York City. His main interests are human papain-like cysteine proteases and their roles in health and disease.

weights and isoelectric points as well as the chromosomal localization of the human genes. Signal peptides which are responsible for the translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum during ribosomal protein expression are on average between 10 and 20 amino acids in length. Propeptides are of variable length between 36 amino acids in human cathepsin X and 315 amino acids in falcipain-1, a major cysteine protease of the malaria causing parasite Plasmodium falciparum. Functions of the prodomains are at least 3-fold:<sup>1</sup> (i) the proregion acts as a scaffold for protein folding of the catalytic domain;<sup>2,3</sup> (ii) the prodomain operates as a chaperone for the transport of the proenzyme to the endosomal-lysosomal compartment;<sup>4,5</sup> and (iii) the proregion acts as a high-affinity reversible inhibitor preventing the premature activa-tion of the catalytic domain.<sup>6-9</sup> The inhibitory activity of the propeptide reveals some specificity to the parent enzyme. However, available data indicate that the specificity is restricted to members of the cathepsin subfamilies. For example, the propeptide of cathepsin B is selective for cathepsin B and by orders of magnitude less effective for cathepsin L-like proteases.<sup>6</sup> On the other hand, propertides from cathepsin L-like proteases show strong overlapping inhibitory activity within the protease subfamily.<sup>10,11</sup> The structure of cathepsin L-like propeptides appears to be stabilized by a tripartite tryptophan motif. Mutations of any of these tryptophane residues lead to a dramatic decrease of the inhibitory capacity of the respective propeptides.<sup>12</sup>

The catalytic domains of papain-like cysteine proteases are between 220 and 260 amino acids in length. Exceptions are several parasite-derived cysteine proteases which contain C-terminal extension of unknown function. The highest conservation among the three polypeptide domains is observed in the catalytic domain. Figure 1 shows the amino acid alignment of 11 human cathepsins and 49 parasitic cathepsins of major human and animal pathogens. All cysteine proteases have in common a conserved

active site consisting of a cysteine, histidine, and asparagine residue. The cysteine residue (Cys<sup>25</sup> based on papain numbering) is embedded in a highly conserved peptide sequence, CGSCWAFS (active site cysteine residue in bold). Only a relatively small number of cysteine proteases have amino acid replacements in this region. Similar to the area around the active site cysteine residues also the vicinities of the histidine and asparagine residues are conserved. The histidine residue (His<sup>159</sup>; papain numbering) is adjacent to small amino acid residues such as glycine or alanine followed by four aliphatic hydrophobic residues (valine, leucine, isoleucine) and a glycine. Asparagine (Asn<sup>175</sup>; papain numbering) is part of the Asn-Ser-Trp motif. In addition to the active site residues, several other amino acid sequence regions show a high degree of conservation. Among those are several cysteine residues which are involved in the formation of disulfide bridges, Pro<sup>2</sup> which might prevent the N-terminal truncation and thus inactivation of the mature protease by aminopeptidases, the Gly-Cys-X-Gly-Gly motif forming a wall along the nonprime subsite binding area and the Gly-Pro motif separating a  $\beta$ - and  $\alpha$ -domain at the interface between the major L and R domains.

The overall three-dimensional fold of cathepsins is highly conserved. The structure consists of an L and R domain of similar size where the active site cysteine residue is located in a structurally conserved  $\alpha$ -helix of the L-domain whereas the histidine residue is in the R-domain (Figure 2). The propeptide is less structured and runs in inverse orientation through the substrate binding cleft (Figure 2). A comprehensive review of cathepsin structures has been recently published by McGrath.<sup>13</sup>

Protein sequence alignments of human and parasitic cysteine protease catalytic domains reveal a clustering into three major subfamilies: cathepsin B-like, cathepsin L-like, and cathepsin F-like (Figure 3). The clustering is based on the general degree of sequence identity and similarity among the proteases. In addition, a typical feature of cathepsin B-like cysteine proteases is the insertion of a so-called occluding loop between the conserved Pro-Tyr<sup>103</sup> motif and Cys<sup>128</sup> (cathepsin B numbering). The loop is characterized by two adjacent histidine residues (His<sup>110</sup>, His<sup>111</sup>) which are responsible for the dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase activity of cathepsin B.14 Both histidine residues anchor the C-terminal carboxyl group of peptide and protein substrates and thus allow the proteolytic removal of C-terminal dipeptides.

The relatedness of the three subfamilies is also reflected in a conserved motif within the proregions which have a significant lower degree of sequence similarity than the catalytic domains. Karrer et al. identified the so-called ERF/WNIN motif as characteristic for the cathepsin L-like subfamily.<sup>15</sup> This motif is absent in cathepsin B-like proteases and modified into an ERFNAQ/A motif in the cathepsin F-like subfamily.<sup>16,17</sup> All of the proteases marked as cathepsin F-like in Figure 3 possess the ERFNAQ/A motif. Several cysteine proteases, among them the human cathepsins C, O, and X, do not allow a clear classification into one of the subfamilies. They may represent additional subfamilies.

## 2.2. Catalytic Mechanism of Cathepsins

The catalytic site of papain-like cysteine proteases is highly conserved and formed by three residues: Cys<sup>25</sup>, His<sup>159</sup>, and Asn<sup>175</sup> (papain numbering). Cys<sup>25</sup> and His<sup>159</sup> form an ion pair which is stabilized by Asn<sup>175</sup> via a hydrogen bond. This triad has some similarities to the active site present in serine proteases (Ser, His, Asp). However, in contrast to serine proteases the nucleophilic cysteine residue is already ionized prior to substrate binding and thus cysteine proteases can be regarded as a priori activated enzymes.<sup>18</sup> During peptide hydrolysis, the nucleophilic thiolate cysteine attacks the carbonyl carbon of the scissile bond of the bound substrate and forms a tetrahedral intermediate which is stabilized by the so-called oxyanion hole (for more details see review, ref 19). The tetrahedral intermediate transforms into an acyl enzyme (enzyme-substrate thiol ester) with the simultaneous release of the C-terminal portion of the substrate (acylation). This step is followed by the hydrolysis of the acyl enzyme with water, forming a second tetrahedral intermediate which finally splits into the free enzyme and the N-terminal portion of the substrate (deacylation). The sequence of the reaction is shown in Figure 4. The catalytic mechanism has been recently refined by proton inventory experiments.<sup>20</sup> Kinetic studies of solvent isotope effects suggest that the initial enzyme substrate complex already represents a tetrahedral adduct and that the basicity of the nitrogen atom of the scissile bond promotes the formation of the acyl enzyme. Furthermore, it is thought that proton transfers in acylation (from the imidazolium cation onto the nitrogen of the scissile bond) and in deacylation (from the nucleophile water molecule to the acyl enzyme), respectively, are concerted and not stepwise actions.

The catalytic site is located within the substrate binding region which has binding pockets (subsites) for substrate amino acids in N- and C-terminal direction from the scissile bond. According to the Schechter and Berger nomenclature,<sup>21</sup> subsites in N-terminal direction are named S1, S2, S3...Sn, and subsites in C-terminal direction are called S1', S2', S3'...Sn'. The appropriate substrate (or inhibitor) amino acids binding in the subsites are designated with P1, P2, P3, etc. and P1', P2', P3', etc.

## 2.3. Intracellular and Tissue Distribution, Substrate Specificity, and Physiological Functions

Papain-like cysteine proteases are expressed as preproenzymes and are synthesized at the rough endoplasmic reticulum. They possess N-glycosylation sites which are utilized for the translocation to the lysosomal compartment via the mannose 6-phosphate receptor pathway. The location of papain-like cysteine proteases is not strictly lysosomal but rather the enzymes are trafficking between phagosomes, endosomes, and lysosomes and individual proteases may accumulate in different organelles. For example,

proteases	signal	pr	rodomair	ı	ma	ture domain		prepro-	enzyme	chromo-
AC number	peptide	length	size		length	size		length	size	somal
(Swiss-Prot)	ÂA	AĂ	Da	pI	AĂ	Da	pI	AĂ	Da	position
			Human	Cath	epsins					
cathepsin L P07711	17	96	11724	9.0	220	24170	4.7	333	37546	9q21-22
cathepsin V (L2) O60911	17	96	11672	9.5	221	23999	8.6	334	37329	9q22.2
cathepsin S P25774	16	98	11830	9.3	217	23993	7.6	331	37479	1q21
cathepsin O P43234	23	84	9894	9.8	214	23460	5.8	321	35957	4q31-32
cathepsin F Q9UBX1	19	251	27846	9.4	214	23593	5.8	484	53365	11q13.1-3
cathepsin X (Z) Q9UBR2	23	38	4338	9.6	242	27149	5.5	303	33868	20q13
cathepsin B P07858	17	62	7245	9.6	260	28663	5.2	339	37807	8p22
cathepsin C P53634	24	206	23534	8.7	233	26032	5.6	463	51841	11q14.1-3
cathepsin K (O2) P43235	15	99	11833	6.3	215	23495	8.9	329	36966	1q21
cathepsin H P09668	22	75	9104	9.8	220	24187	5.7	335	37403	15q24-25
cathepsin w P56202	21	106	12060	4.8	249	28024	8.9	370	42099	11q13.1-3
			Du	ist Mi	te					
D. pteronyssinus (Der p1) P08176	18	80	9273	5.4	222	25020	5.6	320	36104	
<i>D. farinae</i> (Der f1) P16311	18	80	9340	5.2	223	25192	5.8	321	36435	
			Pla	smodi	um					
P. falciparum (falcipain-1) P25805	17	315	38118	9.2	237	26864	5.3	569	66880	
falcipain-2 Q9NBD4	21	239	28490	9.5	224	24999	4.9	484	55992	
falcipain-3 Q9NBA7	17	247	28936	9.5	224	25108	4.7	488	56105	
P. cynomolgi Q25660		1 - 9	9		233	25931	5.2	332	38027	
P. berghei Q25644		1 - 9	8		231	26392	5.0	329	38166	
P. vinckei P46102		1 - 20	62		244	27561	4.8	506	58255	
<i>P. vivax</i> P42666		1 - 33	38		245	27254	5.1	583	65721	
			Trvi	anoso	oma					
<i>T. cruzi</i> (cruzipain) P25779	18	104	11541	7.2	345 (129)	36459 (13716)	5.1	467	49836	
<i>T. brucei</i> (brucipain) P14658	20	105	11945	9.8	325 (108)	34212 (11131)	4.5	450	48451	
<i>T. rhodesiense</i> (rhodesain) Q95PM0	20	105	11945	9.8	325 (109)	34193 (11244)	4.4	450	48432	
T. congolense (congopain) Q26895	20	105	11952	9.5	319 (104)	33947 (10859)	5.2	444	48099	
cruzipain-B O61066	18	71	8058	10.2	244	26584	5.0	333	36773	
-			Lai	chmai	nia					
I major P90628	21	104	11856	95	318 (101)	34219 (10905)	64	443	48057	
L. mayor 1 00020	27	98	11246	9.1	318 (99)	33958 (10538)	5.0	443	40007	
L. nifanoi 005094	19	105	11886	9.1	320 (99)	34158 (10538)	19	444	47857	
L. phanol Q03034	21	103	11854	97	318 (99)	34106 (10538)	54	444	47037	
I major-B P90627	20	77	8250	61	256	28498	49	340	37246	
L. chagasi-B Q9GQN7	20	77	8355	5.0	243	26597	5.1	340	36977	
L. mexicana-B Q25319	20	76	8168	5.7	244	26924	5.2	340	37200	
					_					
C lamblia P1 O0C D95	17	61	07095	10 0	1 995	91779	15	202	22550	
C lomblio P2 O0C D24	20	54	97000	10.0	220	24113	4.5	200	22002	
C. Jamblia P2 OOC D22	20 10	54 54	6061	10.5	226	24970	4.7	200	22674	
$G_{muris} \cap 15555$	13	63	7201	67	225	25210	4.5	201	32074	
<i>G. maris</i> 013535	15	05	1231	0.7	220	20210	4.0	501	33700	
			En	tamoe	ba					
Entamoeba histolytica Q01957	13	80	9321	9.5	222	24169	5.1	315	35056	
			Sch	istoso	ma					
S. japonicum Q10834	16	99	12220	5.9	216	24509	8.9	331	38460	
S. japonicum-B P43157	17	72	8464	5.9	253	28409	8.2	342	38796	
S. japonicum-C 018533	22	199	23372	9.6	237	26680	5.9	458	52698	
S. mansoni Q26534		1-1	04		215	24113	5.0	319	36136	
S. mansoni-B P25792	17	71	8494	6.5	252	28295	8.5	340	38592	
S. mansoni-C Q26563	20	197	22491	9.3	237	26436	4.8	454	51281	
			F	asciol	а					
F. hepatica-1 Q24940	17	90	10881	6.3	220	24319	6.9	326	36896	
$F_{\rm hepatica} = 2 \ \Omega^2 4941$	17	90	10942	8.2	219	24411	4.9	326	37177	
F. gigantica Q9XYL8	17	90	10907	5.6	219	24097	5.1	326	36771	
88				Othon						
Paraganimus westermani OOLIOC9		1_9	10	Uther	917	99019	5 /	197	19659	
1 ar agommus westermänn Q90008	17	102	19160	0.0	611 978	21996	5.4 5.1	42/ 200	40032	
Ancelostoma conjnum D 011000	17	103	12109 0002	Э.Ö Л С	251 251	98710	J. I Q A	030 040	4J210 20001	
Necator americanus OOI 2028	10	70 60	8111	4.0 2 0	~54 256	20140	0.9 Q /	343	38803	
Trichuris suis 017/21	16	67	7459	55	265	29611	2.4 2.0	348	38701	
Ostertagia ostertagi P95809	10	69	8046	10 10	253	28156	76	341	38430	
O. volvulus Q9B.IM3	23	164	19318	91	214	23607	93	401	45511	
Haemonchus contortus-B P19092	18	68	7795	4.8	256	28723	8.3	342	38459	
							5.0			
II shows 010477	10	100	He	terode	ra	04000	F 0	074	40001	
H. glycines U18455	16	139	16218	8.2	218	24082	5.6	374	42231	
<i>п. glycines</i> -5 018456	33	101	11322	10.Z	219	24120	<b>ə</b> .1	353	38/68	

#### Table 1 (Continued)

proteases	signal	prodomain		mature domain		prepro-enzyme		chromo-		
AC number	peptide	length	size		length	size		length	size	somal
(Swiss-Prot)	ĀA	AĀ	Da	pI	AĀ	Da	pI	AĀ	Da	position
			Ot	ther						
<i>Toxocara canis</i> Q26888	27	117	14465	5.2	216	24260	4.9	360	41523	
Brugia pahangi 017473	16	165	19323	5.0	214	23529	8.6	395	44549	
Aedes aegypti-B Q16920	19	67	7555	9.6	256	28465	6.5	342	37897	
Boophilus microplus Q9NHB5	18	97	11068	9.7	217	23464	4.7	332	36313	
Sarcophaga peregrina Q26636	17	104	12464	9.6	218	23636	4.6	339	37847	
D. discoideum-2 P04989	18	104	12275	6.8	254	27455	5.6	376	41851	
			The	eileria						
<i>T. annulata</i> P25781		1-213	3		214	233110	7.0	441	49653	
<i>T. parva</i> P22497		1-228	8		211	23406	7.0	439	50179	

<sup>*a*</sup> Prediction of signal peptide and propeptide cleavage sites were performed by SignalP program from SWISS–PROT. C-terminal extension length and size (Da) for parasitic cysteine protease are indicated in parentheses.

cathepsin H appears to concentrate in the early endosomes of a macrophage cell line whereas the majority of cathepsin S is found in the late endosomes.<sup>22</sup> However, not all papain-like cathepsins are lysosomal enzymes and some use mannose 6-phosphate independent pathways for their transport into lysosomes or equivalent compartments. Human cathepsin W appears to be retained in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) although it possesses one putative N-glycosylation site in its catalytic domain.<sup>23,24</sup> None of the known ER retention signals are present in the cathepsin W polypeptide suggesting the utilization of a yet unknown signal. On the other hand, some cysteine proteases with putative N-glycosylation sites may use a mannose 6-phosphate independent pathway for lysosomal targeting. For example, it has been suggested that cruzipain, a cathepsin L-like protease from Trypanosoma cruzi, relies on a nine amino acid sequence (FKQKHGRVY) of the propart for the delivery into the lysosomal compartment.<sup>25</sup> Similar propeptide motifs have been identified in cysteine proteases expressed in Leishmania.26 Mannose-6 phosphate independent trafficking pathways also have been proposed for cathepsins B and H.<sup>27,28</sup>

With the exception of cathepsin S,<sup>29,30</sup> human cathepsins have an acidic pH optimum which allows full activity within the lysosomal compartment.<sup>31</sup> Most mammalian cathepsins are rapidly inactivated at neutral pH, an adaptive change that might represent a protective mechanism against accidental leakage from the lysosomes into the cytosol.<sup>32</sup> In contrast, many parasitic cysteine proteases are most active at neutral or slightly alkaline pH.<sup>26,33,34</sup> Neutral or alkaline pH optima are in accordance with the extracellular activity observed for these proteases. Extracellular functions of parasitic cysteine proteases in nutrition, tissue and cell invasion, ex/encystment, hatching and immunoevasion have been recently discussed in detail by Sajid and McKerrow (2002),<sup>26</sup> and the interested reader is referred to this review.

Human cathepsins are expressed either ubiquitously or tissue and cell specifically. Cathepsins B, L, H, C, X, F, and O are found in many organs and may fulfill housekeeping functions.<sup>31,35–40</sup> Whereas cathepsins L, S, K, V, F, and O are endopeptidases,<sup>39</sup> cathepsin X is a carboxypeptidase.<sup>41</sup> Cathepsins H, B, and C exhibit endo- as well as exopeptidase activities.<sup>31,42,43</sup> In addition to their endopeptidase

activities, cathepsin H acts as an aminopeptidase,44 cathepsin B acts as a dipeptidyl carboxy peptidase,<sup>45,46</sup> and cathepsin C, also known as dipeptidyl peptidase I, cleaves dipeptides from the Nterminus of peptides and protein substrates. The combined endo- and exopeptidase activities of lysosomal cathepsins warrant an efficient breakdown of protein substrates in lysosomes. The "mixed" activities of all three enzymes have been explained by their 3-D structures. As mentioned, cathepsin B possesses an occluding loop with two histidine residues which anchor the Č-terminal carboxyl group of a protein or peptide substrate.<sup>14,47</sup> The endopeptidase activity of cathepsin B as well as its inhibition by cystatins and its propeptide depends on the flexibility of the occluding loop.48,49 Removal of the occluding loop leads to a significant increase in the endopeptidase activity of cathepsin B.<sup>50</sup> In the cathepsin H structure, an octapeptide mini-chain attached via a disulfide bond to the body of the enzyme fills the region that in related enzymes comprises the nonprimed substratebinding sites from S2 backward. Guncar et al.<sup>51</sup> suggested that the negatively charged carboxyl group of the C-terminus of the mini-chain acts as an anchor for the positively charged N-terminal amino group of a substrate and thus allows the aminopeptidase activity. The dipeptidyl aminopeptidase activity of cathepsin C is caused by the formation of a tetramer and a so-called exclusion domain which excludes the approach of a polypeptide chain apart from its termini. By anchoring the N-terminal amino group of the substrate to the carboxylic group of Asp<sup>1</sup> of the protease amino acid sequence the aminopeptidase activity can be explained.<sup>52</sup> The major physiological function of cathepsin C appears to be the activation of granzyme zymogens which requires the proteolytic removal of an N-terminal activation dipeptide.<sup>53</sup>

Recent studies have demonstrated that cathepsin activities and their stabilities can be regulated by glycosaminoglycans.<sup>54</sup> Almeida et al.<sup>55</sup> demonstrated that heparin and heparan sulfate specifically bind to cathepsin B and potentiate its endopeptidase activity as well as stabilize the protease activity at neutral pH by reducing the loss of cathepsin B  $\alpha$ -helix content. We have recently shown that the collagenolytic activity of cathepsin K requires the formation of a complex between the protease and chondroitin sulfate. In the absence of chondroitin sulfate, monomeric

	25	64	
hcatL hcatV	APRSVDWREKG	LISLSEQNUVDCSGPQGNEGCNGG	LNDYAFQYVQDN - FMARAFQYVKEN -
hcatS	LPDSVDWREKGCVTEVKYQGSCGACWAFSAVGALEAQLKLKT-GK	L V T L S A Q N L V D C S T E K Y G N K G C N G G	FMTTAFQYIIDN-
hcatK	APDSVDYRKKGYVTPVKNQCQCGSCWAFSSVGALBGQLKKKT-GKI	LLNLSPQNLVDCVSENDGCGGG	YMTNAFQYVQKN-
hcat0 hcatF	LPLRFDWRDKQVVTQVRNQQMCGGCWAFSVVGAVHSAYAIKG-KPI APPEWDWRSKGAVTKVKDOGMCGSCWAFSVTGNVEGOWFLNO-G-TI	LEDLSVQQVIDCSYNNYCCNCC LLSLSEQELLDCDKNDKACMGG	STLNALNWLNK-M LPSNAYSAIKN
hcatW	VPFSCDWRKVAGAISPIKDQKNCNCCWAMAAAGNIETLWRISF-WD	FVDVSVHELLDCGRCGDGCHGG	FVWDAFITVLNN-
hcatH hcatC	YPPSVDWRKKGNFVSPVKNOGACGSCWTFSTTGALESAIAIAT-GKU	MLSLAEQQLVDCA QDFNNYGCQGG	LPSQAFEYILYN-
hcatB	LPASEDAREQWPQCPT-IKEIRDQGSCGSCHAFGAVEAISDRICIHT-NAHVS	SVEVSAEDLLTCCGSNCGDGCNGG	YPAEAWNFWTR
hcatX	LPKSWDWRNVDG VNYASITRNOHIPQYCGSCWAHASTSANADRINIKRKGAWP	STLLSVONVIDCGNAGSCEGG	NDLSVWDYAHQ
T.cruzi T.congolense	APAAVDWKARGAVTAVKDOGOCGSCWAFSAIGNVECOWFLAG-HPI	LTNLSEONLVSCDKTDSGCSGG	LNNNAFEWIVQEN
T.brucei brucei	APAAVDWREKGAVTPVKVQGQCGSCWAFSTIGNIEGQWQVAG-NPI	LVSLSEQNLVSCDTIDSGCNGG	LMDNAFNWIVNSN
T.rhodesiense	APAAVDWREKGAVTPVKDQCQCGSCWAFSTIGNIEGQWQVAG-NPI	L V S L S E Q M L V S C D T I D F G C G G G	LMDNAFNWIVNSN
L.major L.major *	VPDAVDWREKGAVTPVKNQCACGSCWAFSAVCNINSQWAVAG-HK LPEFEDAAEHWPMCLT-ISEIRDOSNCGSCWAFAAVEAISDRYCTFG-GVP-J	LVRLSEQQLVSCDHVDNCCGGGG DRRMSTSNHLSCCFICGLGCHGG	LNLQMFEWVLRNM IPTVNWLWWVW
L.mexicana	VPDAVDWREKGAVTPVKDQCACGSCWAFSAVGNIEGQWYLAG-HEI	L V S L S E Q Q L V S C D D M N D G C D G G	LNLQAFDWLLQNT
L.mexicana *	LPESFDASEKWPMCV7 - IGEIRDQSN CGSCWAIAAVEANSDRYCTNS-GIP-1	DRRISTINLLSCCFICGFGCYGG	IPANAWLWWVW
L.chagasi	VPDAVDWREKGAVTPVKNQGACGSCWALWAVDAISDRICTLG-GVP-J	LVSLSEQQLVSCDDKDNGCNGG	LNLQAFEWLLRHM
L.chagasi *	LPEFFDAAE HWPMCVT - ISEIRDOSN CGSCWAIAAVEAISDRYCTLG-GVP - 1	DRRISTSNLLSCCFICGFGCYGG	IPTNOWLWWVW
L.pifanoi P.vivay	VPDAVDWREKGAVTPVKDOGACGSCWAFSAVGNIEGOWYLAG-HEI UPETLDVPEKGTVHEEKDOGLCGSCWAFSAVGNUECMYAKEHNKT	LVSLSEQQLVSCDDNNDGCDGG	LNLQ FDWLLQNT
P.falciparum	VPEILDYREKGIVHEPKDQGLCGSCWAFASVGNVECWIWKEN-UKI VPEILDYREKGIVHEPKDQGLCGSCWAFASVGNIESVFAKKNKN:	ILSFSEQEVVDCSKDN-FGCDGG	HPFYSFLYVLQ
P.westermani	LPPSFDWRANGAVTEVKDQGMCGSCWAFATTGNIEGQWFRKT-NKI	LIS <mark>LSEQQL</mark> LDCDTKDEACNGG	LPEWAYDEIVK
P.cynomoigi P berghei	VPE I LDYREKG	ILTLSEQEVVDCSKLN-FCCDGG PISFSEOOVVPCSSDN-FCCDGG	HPFYSFIYAIE HPFLSFLYFLN
P.vinckei	FPDSRDYRSKFNFLPPRDQGNCGSCWAFAAIGNFEYLYVHTRHEMI	PISFSEQQMVDCSTEN-YGCDGG	NPFYAFLYMIN
Heterodera	LPESVDWRDKGWVTEVKNQGMCGSCWAFSATGALEGQHVRDK-GHI	L V S L S E Q N L I D C S K K Y G N M G C N G G	IMDNAFQYIKDN-
S.iaponicum-1	IPER DURKERGAVTEVENOGDCGSCWAPSATGAINGAINGANAQRE-A-SK IPENNFDWREKGAVTEVENOGMCGSCWAPSATGAINGANES(WFRKT-GK)	LISLSEQULVDCD8LDDGCNGG	LPSNAYESIIR
S.japonicum-2	VPSTWDWRDHGAVTAVKHQGLCGSCWAFSATGAIEGQLRRKH-KKI	LVKLSEQQLVDCRYNYGNDGCEGG	TMDLAFNYLEK
S.japonicum *	IPSQFDSRKKWPHCKS-ISQIRDQSRCGSCWAFGAVEANTDRICIQS-GGGQ	SAELSALDLISCCKDCGDGCQGG	FPGVAWDYWVK
S.mansoni-C	LPLEFDWTSPPDGSRSPVTPIRNQGI CGSCYASPSAALEARIRLVS-NFSE	2 PILSPQTVVDCSPYSEGCNGG	FPFLIAGKYGED-
S.mansoni	IPKNFDWREKGAVTEVKNQGMCGSCWAFSTTGNVESQWFRKT-GK	LLSLSEQQLVDCDGLDDGCNGG	LPSNAYESIIK
S.mansoni-1 * S.mansoni-2 *	IPSNFDSRKKWPGCKS-IATIRDOSRCGSCWSDGAVEANSDRSCIQS-GGKQU LPKSFDARVEWPHCPS-ISEIRDOSSCGSCWAPGAVEANSDRICIKS-KGKHJ	NVELSAVDILTCCESCGLCCEGC KPELSAENIVSCCSSCGMCCNCG	ILGPNWDYWVK FPHSAWLYWKN
F.hepatica	VPDRIDWRESG	SISFSEQQLVDCSRDFGNYGCNGG	LNENAYEYLKR
F.gigantica	VPDKIDWRESGYVTELKDQGKCGSCWAFSTTGTMEGQYMKNE-RT	SISFSEQQUVDCSGPWGNMGCSGG	LMENAYEYLKQ
D.farinae	VPSELDERSLRTVTPIRMOGGCGSCWSPSTTGSTSGAHALKT-KK	SLDLSEONLVDCSGPEENFECDEG	TIPRGIEVICO
D.pteronyssinus	APAEIDLRONRTVTPIRMOGGCGSCWAFSGVAATESAYLAYR-NQ	SLDLAEQELVDCASQHGCHGD	TIPRGIEYIQH
G.lamblia *	IPPOFDERDEYPQCVKPALDOGSCGECWAFSAIGVFGDRRCAMG-IDKE/	A V S Y S Q Q H L I S C S L E N F G C D G G	DFQPTWSFLTF
C.elegans *	LPDTFDAREKWPDCNT-IKLIRNQATCGSCWAFGAAEVISDRVCIQS-NGTQ	QPVISVEDILSCCGTTCGYGCKGG	YSIEALRFWAS
Aedes *	LPESFDARQKWSQCPS-LNVIRNQGCCGSCWAISAASANTDRWCIKS-KGKE	Q F S F G A T D M L A C C H A C G D G C K G G	YLGPAWQFWVE
A.caninum * N americanus *	PPASEDARTHWPECRS-IGTIRDOSSCGSCWAVSBAEANSDEICVOS-NSTII	RVMISDSDILSCCGISCGYGCQGG	WPIEAYKWMQR
H.contortus *	IPESPDSREKWKDCPS-IRVIPDOSNCGSCWAVSAAQCMSDRICIHS-QGRKI	KVLLSATDILACCGKFCGYGCDGG	YNARAWKWATI
O.ostertagi *	IPESYDPRIQWANCSS-LFHIPDQANCGSCWAVSSAAAMSDRICIAS-KGAK	2 V L I S A Q D V V S C C T W C G D G C E G G	WPISAFRFHAD
I richuris * Naegleria	IPPSFDVRSLWHVCSLNLIRDQAKCGSCWAVSAAETNSDRICVQS-NCSI APTSFDVROHGAVTRVXNOGACGSCWTFSTTGNVRGOWAIKK-GK	KACISDTDILSCCGLYCGYCCNGG Lystscolypcdhncytyonodacdsccngg	FPIERWRHFTV LNWSRFOYVIK
A.lumbricoides *	IPEAFDAREKWDQCAS-LKNIRDQSSCGSCWAFGAVEANSDRICIAS-NGKI	QVSLSADDLLSCCKSCGFGCDGG	DPMAAWKYWVK
Toxocara	IPDHFDWRPYNVVTPVKSOFKCGSCWAFATVGTVESAYALGT-GEU	LRSLSEQQLLDCNLENNACDGG	DVDKALRYVYD
B.pahangi	LPDQVDWRTKGAVTPVRNQGECGSCHAFATAAALEAYHKQMT-GRI	LIDLSPONIVDCTRNLGNNGCSGG	YMPTAFQYASR
E.histolytica	A PESVDWRSINNPAKDQGQCGSCWTFCTTAVLEGRVNKDL-GKI	LYSFSEQQLVDCDASD-NGCEGG	HPSNSLKFIQEN-
O.volvulvus-C	LPVSVDWRKKGWVTPVKNQGVCGSCYAFAAIGALBAYNKKKT-GK	L V D L S I Q N A V D C T W T L G N Y C C R G G	YMNPIFYYATK
hcatL hcatV	- 0 - 1 0 5 0 2 5 1	KYNPKY-SVANDTGPVDTPKQ-E	
hcatL hcatV hcatS	- G C L D S E S K	X Y N P K Y S V A N D 7 G F V D I P K Q - Z X Y R P E N S V A N D 7 G F T V A A P G - K - E G V D S K Y - R A J A C S K Y I S L P Y G - R - E	
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK	- G G L D S D S N	Х Y M P K Y S V A M D T G IV V I D K Q - E X Y K P E M - S V A M D T G IT V V A PG K - E Q Y D E K Y - R A A T C S K Y T E L P G - R - E M Y N P T G - K A A K C R O Y N E L P E G - N - E	
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatO hcatE	- 0 - 1   0   6   1 6   5	X Y N P X Y - S V A N D T G V V D I P X Q - Z X Y R P X P - S V A N D T G V V V P P G X - E Q Y D S X Y - R A A T C S X Y T S L P Y G - R - E H Y P F G - K A A X C R O Y R S L P S 9 C H Y P F G S N S G F S I X O Y S A Y D F S 9 C Y F R S S N S F S I X O Y S A Y D F S 9 C	K & L M K & V & - T V K & L M K & V & - T V D V L K & V & - M K K & L K & V & - M K K & L K & V & - M K D M & K & L L F - - O K L & W & K K F
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatO hcatF hcatW	- G C L O S D S V	N Y N P X Y - S V A N D T O V D I P X O         O           M Y N P E N - S V A N D T O V P Y D N P G - X - E         O           Q I D S X Y - R A A T C S X I T E I P Y G - R - E         O           M Y N P T O - K A A T C S X I T E I P Y O - R - E         O           M Y N P T O - K A A X C R O I N E I P S - R - O         O           M Y N P S A S N C Y N I K O I S X I T D Y S - O (S S A S N P S - O (S S A S A S N P S - O (S S A S A S N P S - O (S S A S A S N P S - O (S S A S A S N P S - O (S S A S A S N P S - O (S S A S A S N P S - O (S S A S N P S - O (S S A S N P S - O (S S A S N P S - O (S S A S N P S - O (S S A S N P S - O (S S A S N P S - O (S S A S N P S - O (S S A S N P S - O (S S A S N P S N P S - O (S S A S N P S N P S - O (S S A S - N P S N P	
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatC hcatF hcatW hcatH hcatH	G G L O S D S Y	$ \begin{array}{c} V \ x \ y \ x \ x$	$\begin{array}{c} - & - & \times & \overline{A} \ \overline{L} \ M \ \times \ M \ \overline{V} \ M \ - \ \overline{T} \ V \\ - & - & \times & \overline{A} \ L \ M \ \times \ M \ V \ M \ - \ \overline{T} \ V \\ - & - & \nabla \ L \ K \ B \ V \ M \ - \ R \ V \\ - & - & \nabla \ M \ M \ K \ R \ M \ V \ M \ - \ R \ V \\ - & - & \nabla \ M \ M \ K \ R \ M \ K \ R \ M \ V \ M \ - \ R \ V \\ - & - & \nabla \ M \ M \ K \ R \ M \ K \ R \ M \ M \ K \ R \ M \ M \ R \ R \ M \ M \ R \ R \ M \ M$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatC hcatF hcatH hcatH hcatC hcatB	G       II       OS       II       SS       II       SS       III       SS       IIII       SS       IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	X Y N P X Y - S V A N D T G V D I P X Q - F X Y R P Z N - S V A N D T G V D I P X Q - F X Y R P Z N - S V A N T C S X Y T S L D Y G - R - S N Y N P T G - K A A Y C S X Y T S L D Y G - R - S Y P S G S S 0 P K V Y N D S Y E L P S - 0 G N F S A S - K A V Y I N D S Y E L P S - 0 G N P S A S V A N I Q D I Y I L Q N - N - S X P X P Q C - A I G V Y D A N I Q S N - C X M X D C F R Y Y S S T Y H V G G F Y G C A	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ - \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{k} \\ - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ - \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{k} \\ - & \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{k} \\ - & \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{k} \\ - & \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{k} \\ - & \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{k} \\ - & \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{k} \$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatF hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatB hcatZ	- G C L D S C D S V V Y A T Y E	N Y N P X Y - S Y N N D T O T Y D I P X - 0 F         N Y N P Z N - S Y N N D T O T Y Y N P F G - X - S         O Y D S X Y - R A A T C S X Y T Y S I P F G - X - S         N Y N P T G - X - S         N Y N P G S N S G Y S [ X O Y S A Y D F S G - X - S         N P S Y G S N S G Y S [ X O Y S A Y D F S G - S - S         N P S X Y - X Y S [ X O Y S A Y D F S G - S - S         N P S X Y - X Y S [ X O Y S A Y D S S - S - S         N P S X P S Y S [ Y N D Y S [ I O S - S - S         N P S P S Y S [ Y N D Y S [ I O S - S - S         N P S P S Y S [ Y N D Y S [ I O S - S - S - S         N P S P S Y S [ Y N D Y S [ I O S - S - S - S - S         N P S P S Y S [ Y N D Y S ] T N D Y S [ I O S - S - S - S         N P S P S Y S D Y N [ N O S O S - S - S - S - S - S - S - S - S	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{H} & \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{V} \\ \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{\lambda} \end{bmatrix} \\ \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{V} \\ \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{K} \\ \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{K} \\ \mathbf{K} \\$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatO hcatF hcatF hcatW hcatH hcatC hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatB hcatZ T.cruzi T.cruzi	- G C L O S D S V	$ \begin{array}{c} W \ x \ y \ x \ x$	$\begin{array}{c} - & K \\ - & K \\$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatW hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatZ T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi brucci	- G G L O S D S Y	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{Y} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{P} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{Y} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{F} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{Y} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{F} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{Y} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{F} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{S} \ \mathbf{S} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{S} \ \mathbf{S} \ \mathbf{S} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{S} \ \mathbf$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{N} \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{N} \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \\ - & - & \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{N} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{N} \ N$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatF hcatH hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatX T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.hrucei brucei	G G L OS D S V	$ \begin{array}{c} W X B P K Y = S = W A B D T G \overline{P} Y V \overline{P} R K = - Q - \overline{R} \\ X Y R P E N = S = V A B D T G \overline{P} T V V R P G = - K - E \\ Q Y D S K Y = - R = A A T C S K \overline{P} T S [L P Y G = - R - S \\ M Y B T G = - K = A A T C S K \overline{P} T S [L P Y G = - R - S \\ M Y B T G = - K = A A T C S K \overline{P} T S [L P S G = - N - S \\ M Y B S G S S S G = F S [L T C S ] X F S S S S \\ M Y B S G S S S G = S [L T C S ] X F S S S S \\ M F S A S S C V N T N D S V S [L P G N - S \\ R F S A S C V N T (N D S N S ] T S C S \\ R F S Q S C X - A T (S F C N N N Z N Z S S S S S \\ K T C Q F Q S C X - A Y S S E T N V T (S G C S S S S S S S S \\ S K T C S P Q S S S - T - Y K O D K M [T O T S S S S S S S S S \\ S K T C S C T Q S S S O A N T T O K V S [L P G Q S \\ D K S G K V V O A N T T D K V D L D D C$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{M} \; \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{A} \\ \mathbf{V} \; \mathbf{N} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{A} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{M} \; \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{A} \\ \mathbf{V} \; \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \; \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{X} \; \mathbf{V} \\ \mathbf{A} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{K} \; \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{V} \\ \mathbf{A} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{V} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{V} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatO hcatF hcatG hcatH hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatB hcatC T.cruzi T.cruzi T.crucei brucei T.hruceisense L.major *	G       G       G       G       S       D       S	$ \begin{array}{c} X & x \ B \ X \ Y & x \ B \ X \ Y & x \ B \ X \ X & y \ B \ X \ X & y \ B \ X \ X & y \ B \ X \ S & y \ S \ X & y \ B \ X \ S & y \ S \ X & y \ S \ X & y \ S \ X & y \ S \ S \ X & y \ S \ S \ X & y \ S \ S \ S \ S \ S \ S \ S \ S \ S \$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatF hcatW hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatA T.cruzi T.crugolense T.brucei brucei T.rhodesiense L.major * L.mayor *	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} X & y & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & z & y & z & y & z & y & z & y & z & y & z & z$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{X} \ \mathbf{X} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatA T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi t.brucei brucei T.rhodesiense L.major * L.major * L.mexicana * L.denovani *	G       D       D       D       D       S       Y       X       T       Y       Y       X       T       S	$ \begin{array}{c} W & Y & F & F & Y & Y & F & F & Y & Y & F & Y & Y$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatW hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatZ T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.chodesiense L.major L.major L.mexicana * L.dengasi	G       T       O       S       T       Y       T       T       S	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{X} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatB hcatB hcatB hcatB hcatB hcatB hcatB hcatZ T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.brucei brucei T.rhodesiense L.major * L.mayior * L.mexicana * L.chagasi * L.chagasi * L.pifapoi	G       L       D       S       D       S       T       Y       E       T       F       E       S	$ \begin{array}{c} X & y & y & y & z & x \\ X & y & y & y & z & x \\ X & y & z & y & z & z \\ y & y & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ y & z & z & z & z \\ z & z & z & z & z \\ z & z &$	$\begin{array}{c} - & - & \times & \lambda \\ - & - & - & - & - \\ - & - & - & - & -$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatW hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC t.congolense T.brucei brucei T.bruceisense L.major t.chagasi L.donovani * L.chagasi * L.chagasi * L.pfianoi P.vivax	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} X & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & x & y & y$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatW hcatH hcatH hcatB hcatB hcatA T.cruzi T.crugolense T.brucei brucei T.rhodesiense L.major * L.major * L.major * L.mayior * L.dangasi * L.chagasi *	G       D       D       D       S       Y       Z       T       Y       Z       T       Y       Z       X       Y	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} & \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{I} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{I} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{I} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{I} \ \mathbb{S} \ \mathbb{S} \ \mathbb{S} \ \mathbb{S} \ \mathbb{I} \ I$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatW hcatH hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatX T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi brucei T.rhodesiense L.major * L.major * L.major * L.chagasi	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{K} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{X} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{Y} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{Y} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{Y} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} \\ \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} & \mathbf{S} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{X} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{Y} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf{N} & \mathbf{N} \\ \mathbf$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatH hcatH hcatB hcatA T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi t.brucei brucei T.rhodesiense L.mayior L.major L.m	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{F} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{F} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{F} \ \mathbb{S} \ \mathbb$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatW hcatH hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatZ T.crugolense T.brucei brucei T.bruceisense L.major * L.major * L.major * L.chagasi * L.chagasi * L.chagasi *	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{Y} \\ \mathbb{N} \\ \mathbb{P} \\ \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{P} \\ \mathbb{S} \\ \mathbb{N} \\ \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{P} \\ \mathbb{S} \\ \mathbb{S} \\ \mathbb{N} \\ \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{S} \\ S$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatA hcatB hcatA T.cruzi T.crugolense T.brucei brucei T.rhodesiense L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.dangasi * L.chagasi *	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} & \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{I} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{K} & \mathbb{S} \ \mathbb{K} \ K$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatZ T.cruzi T.cruzi T.cruzi brucei T.rhodesiense L.mayior L.major * L.mayior L.mayior L.mayior L.mayior L.donovani * L.chagasi L.chaga	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} & \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ = \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} & \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ = \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{S} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{S} \ $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatO hcatF hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC t.congolense T.brucei brucei T.brucei brucei L.mayior L.mayior L.mayior L.mayior L.mayior L.mayior L.chagasi	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{Y} \\ \mathbb{N} \\ \mathbb{P} \\ \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{P} \\ \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{R} \\ \mathbb{P} \\ \mathbb{R} \\ R$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC t.congolense T.brucei brucei T.brucei brucei L.maijor L.maijor L.maijor L.maijor L.maijor L.maijor L.maijor L.maijor L.chagasi L.chagasi L.chagasi L.chagasi L.chagasi L.chagasi L.chagasi L.chagasi P.falciparum P.falciparum P.vivax P.falciparum P.vestermani P.vershei P.virokei Heterodera Heterodera Heterodera Heterodera Sjaponicum-1 Sjaponicum-2	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} & \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{N} \ N$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatT hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatA T.cruzi T.crugolense T.brucei brucei T.rhodesiense L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.chagasi	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} & \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ - \ \mathbb{S} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{S} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{S} \$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{D} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{D} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{D} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{D} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \\ - & \mathbf{C} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \\ - & \mathbf{C} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \\ - & \mathbf{C} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatZ T.cruzi T.cruzi brucei T.rhodesiense L.major L.chagasi L.chaga	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{X} \ \mathbb{Y} \ Y$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatO hcatF hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatB hcatC	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} & \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{X} & \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{R} \ \mathbb{Y} & \mathbb{R} \ R$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC t.cnogolense T.brucei brucei T.brucei seinse L.major * L.major * L.major * L.chagasi * S.japonicum-1 & S.mansoni-1 * S.mansoni * S.mansoni * S.mansoni * S.mansoni *	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} & \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{Y} = \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{N} \ N$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatZ T.crugolense T.crugolense T.crugolense T.brucei brucei T.rhodesiense L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.major * L.chagasi	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \ \mbox{$\mathbf{Y}$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $	$\begin{array}{c} - \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatZ T.crogolense T.brucei brucei T.rhodesiense L.major L.chagasi L	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} & \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{X} \ \mathbb{Y} \ Y$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{W} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{W} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & \mathbf{D} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{W} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{D} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{W} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \ \mbox{$\mathbf{Y}$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG	G       G       G       G       S	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \ \mbox{Y} \ \mbox{W} \ W$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{C} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & - & \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & - & \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & - & \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M}$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatZ T.crogolense T.crogo	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \ \mbox{$\mathbf{Y}$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{D} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{D} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{U} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{H} \\ - & \mathbf{C} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatga t.chogesense t.major * t.mcxicana * t.mcxicana * t.chagasi	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} & \mathbb{Y} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb{P} \ \mathbb{K} \ \mathbb{N} \ \mathbb$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \ \mbox{$\mathbf{Y}$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG	G       G       G       G       S	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \ \mbox{Y} \ \mbox{W} \ W$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatZ T.crogolense T.crogol	G       G       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       D       S       D	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \ \mbox{Y} \ \mbox{W} \\mbox{W} \\m$	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} = \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{M} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{H} \ \mathbf{A} \\ - & \mathbf{C} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatga t.chagasi t.cha	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} \ \mbox{$\mathbf{X}$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{x} $
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatG hcatC hcatG hcatC hcatG hcatC hcatG hcatC hcatG	G       G	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{N} \ \mbox{$\mathbf{Y}$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatG hcatC hcatG hcatC hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatG	G       G       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D <tdd< td=""> <tdd< td=""> <tdd< td=""></tdd<></tdd<></tdd<>	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \ \mbox{Y} \ \mbox{W} \ W$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
hcatL hcatV hcatS hcatK hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatF hcatG hcatG hcatC hcatB hcatC hcatA t.cngolense T.cnogolense T.cnogolense T.cnogolense T.cnogolense T.cnogense L.major * L.major * J.aponicum-2 S.japonicum-2 S.japonicum-2 S.japonicum-2 S.mansoni * S.mansoni 2* F.hepatica F.gigantica D.pteronysinus G.lamblia * D.pteronysinus G.almblia * L.amblia * L.amblia * L.amblia * L.maporicum * N.americanus * H.contortus * O.ostertagi * D.stertagi * Lambajor * Listolytica	G       G       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       S       D       D       S       D	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{R} \ \mbox{Y} \ \mbox{W} \ \mbox{Y} \ \mbox{W} \ \mbox{Y} \ \mbox{W} \\mbox{W} \mbox{W} \ \mbox{W} \mbox{W} \mbox{W} \mbox{W} \mbox{W} \mbox{W} $	$\begin{array}{c} - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{L} \ \mathbf{K} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{C} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} - \ \mathbf{T} \ \mathbf{V} \\ - & \mathbf{C} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{M} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{V} \ \mathbf{A} \ $



**Figure 1.** Amino acid sequence alignment of human lysosomal cathepsins and related parasite cysteine proteases. The sequences were taken from the SWISS-PROT databases and their alignment was performed by CLUSTAL\_W program under MacVector software. Cathepsin B-like proteases are marked with asterisks.





**Figure 2.** 3-D structures of human and trypanosomal cysteine proteases. Cysteine 25 is colored in yellow in all 3-D structures (ribbon representation). The cathepsin L propeptide is indicated in red and the occluding loop of cathepsin B in gray.



**Figure 3.** Phylogenetic tree of human and parasite papain-like cysteine proteases. Human cathepsins are highlighted in bold. Cathepsin B-like proteases are indicated with one asterisk (\*), and cathepsin F-like enzymes with two asterisks (\*\*).

cathepsin K does not degrade triple helical collagen but, on the other hand, retains its full activity toward



**Figure 4.** Mechanism of substrate hydrolysis by papainlike cysteine proteases.

gelatin and synthetic substrates.<sup>56,57</sup> A third example of glycosaminoglycan-cysteine protease interactions is represented by the finding that heparan sulfate enhances the kinin-degrading activity of cruzipain, the major cysteine protease activity in *T. cruzi*. It also reduces the inhibitory potency of high molecular weight kininogens against the protease. Interestingly, it was shown that kinin release by living trypomastigotes increased up to 10-fold in the presence of heparan sulfate suggesting that the efficiency of *T. cruzi* to initiate kinin release is potently enhanced by the mutual interactions between cruzipain, high molecular kiningens, and heparan sulfate proteoglycans.<sup>58</sup>

It should be noted that data about tissue distribution were frequently derived from Northern blot analyses of whole organs. This may hide a more cell type specific expression pattern of apparently ubiquitously expressed cathepsins. For example, the distribution of cathepsin F appears to be ubiquitous



## Figure 5. Physiological roles of human and parasitic papain-like cysteine proteases.

in Northern blot analysis,<sup>40</sup> whereas preliminary immunohistochemical analysis of cathepsin F expression revealed a preferential expression of the enzyme in macrophages and smooth muscle cells (unpublished observation, DB). Due to the widespread distribution of these cells in various tissues, the apparent nonspecific expression of the protease might be explained. In addition to cathepsin F, cathepsins S, K, V, and W have a highly selective tissue expression.<sup>23,30,35,59–62</sup> Cathepsin S is selectively expressed in lymphatic tissues and more specifically in antigen-presenting cells such as dendritic cells and macrophages as well as in smooth muscle cells<sup>29,63,64</sup> and plays a critical role in antigen presentation<sup>65,66</sup> (See section 3.1.5.). Closely related cathepsin K is highly and specifically expressed in osteoclasts and multinucleated giant cells responsible for bone and foreign body material degradation<sup>60,67-69</sup> (See section 3.1.1.). However, the expression of cathepsin K is not limited to osteoclasts and osteoclast-like cells. High expression levels have been identified in synovial fibroblasts which are involved in the pathological erosion of articular cartilage70-72 (see section 3.1.2.) and in various epithelial cells.<sup>73-75</sup> A specific function of cathepsin K in these cells is unknown and the enzyme may fulfill house-keeping functions. Cathepsin V which shares 80% amino acid sequence identity with cathepsin L is selectively expressed in thymus, testis, and corneal epithelial cells.<sup>59,62,76</sup> Its selective expression in thymic cortical epithelial cells and its ability to degrade the invariant chain of MHC class II complexes suggest a pivotal role of cathepsin V in the positive selection process of T cells (unpublished observation, DB). Cathepsin W (also known under the synonym lymphopain) is selectively expressed in cytotoxic natural killer cells.<sup>23,24,61</sup> To date, neither a function nor a catalytic activity has been described for this protease. Nevertheless, the selective expression in natural killer cells implies a specific role in the pathway of the cytotoxic killing of abnormal cells.

Figure 5 summarizes the physiological functions of mammalian and parasite papain-like cysteine proteases. Pathophysiological implications of cysteine proteases will be discussed in the following chapter.

### 3. Pathophysiological Implications of Papain-Like Cysteine Protease Activities

To date, two human cathepsin deficiencies have been described: (i) pycnodysostosis, a skeletal bone dysplasia caused by cathepsin K deficiency,<sup>77</sup> and (ii) Papillon-Lefevre syndrome, a periodontopathia caused by cathepsin C deficiency.<sup>78</sup> Both diseases are rare and might be cured by bone marrow transplantation or gene therapy. The major role of papain-like cysteine proteases in human pathology, however, is not related to enzyme deficiencies but to the overexpression of these proteases or their "out of place" activities. Papain-like cysteine proteases have been increasingly recognized as critical enzyme activities in degenerative, invasive, and immune system related disorders as well as in various parasitic infections. In this chapter, we want to summarize the role of cysteine proteases in diseases that have a large impact on society in the industrial as well as developing world. The understanding of the functions of these proteases in physiology and pathology will allow the design of selective therapeutic agents. The interested reader is also referred to a previous review focusing on the emerging roles of cysteine proteases in human biology.<sup>79</sup> Major advances in cysteine protease targeted drug discovery have been accomplished for diseases with excessive bone resorption such as osteoporosis<sup>80</sup> and parasite induced diseases such as Chagas' disease.81 Recent developments in cysteine protease inhibitor design will be addressed in chapter 4.

#### 3.1. Systemic Human Diseases

#### 3.1.1. Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is a disease characterized by an imbalance between bone resorption and formation. Excessive bone resorption causes changes in the microstructure of the bone matrix which makes bones prone to fracture. In 1990, an estimated 1.7 million osteoporosis-related hip fractures occurred worldwide from which approximately 25% had a lethal outcome. Currently, 44 million people or 55% of the US population aged 50 or older have osteoporosis or are at risk to develop the condition during their lifespan (http://nof.org/advocacy/prevalence). Direct and indirect costs of osteoporosis are staggering and estimated to be \$18 billion annually and increasing every year. Current therapies are mostly directed to de-



Figure 6. Bone remodeling cycle.

crease the rate of bone resorption. Antiresorptive therapies and compounds include the estrogen replacement therapy, selective estrogen receptor modulators, calcitonin, vitamin D, calcium supplements, PTH and PTH analogues, and bisphosphonates (summarized in ref 82). All therapies show efficacy but reveal various problems such as increased cancer rates in the estrogen-replacement therapy<sup>83</sup> or upper gastrointestinal symptoms and problems in patient compliance in the case of bisphosphonates.<sup>84</sup> Thus, other nonhormonal and more specific therapies are needed. In the following, we briefly discuss cathepsin K as a novel anti-osteoporotic drug target.

Bone tissue is renewed every 5 to 7 years throughout the skeleton by a process called bone remodeling. Bone degrading multinucleated osteoclasts formed from mononuclear precursor cells secrete protons and proteolytic enzymes which first demineralize the bone matrix and then degrade its collagenous organic component. After approximately 3 days, osteoclasts leave behind an excavation pit which is refilled with fresh bone matrix by osteoblasts which usually takes 2 months for completion<sup>85</sup> (Figure 6). The major proteolytic activity of osteoclasts is cathepsin K which represents 98% of the total cysteine protease activity.<sup>60</sup> The physiologically relevant substrate of osteoclast-expressed cathepsin K is type I collagen which constitutes 95% of the organic bone matrix.<sup>67</sup> Cathepsin K is the only known mammalian collagenase activity capable to cleave inside triple helical collagens at multiple sites and to completely hydrolyze collagen fibrils into small peptides.86,87 This activity is only comparable to that of bacterial collagenases.<sup>88</sup> The collagenolytically active form of cathepsin K is an oligomeric complex of cathepsin K and chondroitin sulfate molecules.<sup>57</sup> Cathepsin K also cleaves in the N- and C-telopeptide regions of collagen and releases cross-linked N- and C-telopeptides. These peptides can be determined in urine and serum by immunoassays<sup>89,90</sup> and serve as useful diagnostic markers of osteoclastic bone resorption in vivo. The collagen cleaving activities of other cysteine proteases such as cathepsins L and B are restricted to these sites although their activities are less efficient when compared to cathepsin K. Collagenases of the matrix-metallo proteinase family cleave selectively at one site in the triple helix to generate onequarter and three-quarter fragments. Cathepsin K also efficiently degrades osteonectin.91

The critical role of cathepsin K in bone remodeling is corroborated by the finding that deficiency in cathepsin K activity causes the autosomal recessive bone sclerosing disorder, pycnodysostosis.<sup>77</sup> Osteoclasts from pycnodysostosis patients show an intracellular accumulation of undigested collagen fibrils<sup>92</sup> and patient carriers of the enzyme deficiency are characterized by an osteopetrotic phenotype. A comparable bone phenotype also was demonstrated in cathepsin K-deficient mice.<sup>93</sup> On the other hand, overexpression of cathepsin K in osteoclasts accelerated the turnover of metaphysical trabecular bone in mice.<sup>94</sup>

The critical role of cathepsin K in bone resorption led to the belief that specific cathepsin K inhibitors will be beneficial in the treatment of osteoporosis. Selective cathepsin K inhibitors have been tested in cell-based assays of bone resorption<sup>95</sup> as well as in rodent and nonhuman primate models of osteoporosis.<sup>96,97</sup> A small molecule inhibitor with a  $K_i$  of 0.16 nM significantly reduced serum markers of bone resorption in an estrogen-deficient monkey model of osteoporosis (see Table 2, example 27). N- and Cterminal telopeptides of type I collagen were reduced by 61 and 67%, respectively.96 In contrast, selective cathepsin L inhibitors did not inhibit osteoclastmediated bone resorption in vitro.<sup>98</sup> The design of specific cathepsin K inhibitors has been recently reviewed by Yamashita et al.<sup>80,99</sup>

#### 3.1.2. Rheumatoid Arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a highly inflammatory joint disorder that affects 1-2% of the U.S. population. Direct and indirect costs are estimated to be over \$14 billion annually. Similar to osteoporosis, three times more women than men are affected by the disease. Besides its inflammatory component, RA is characterized by a progressive articular cartilage and subchondral bone destruction that eventually leads to loss of joint function.

In both disease-defining components of RA, i.e., inflammation and cartilage and bone destruction, papain-like cysteine proteases are involved. Implications of cathepsins in inflammation and their role in antigen presentation will be discussed further below.

Cartilage consists of two major constituents: type II collagen forming a 3-D network of fibrils which gives the tissue its tensile strength and hydrophilic aggrecan aggregates which are responsible for the compressive stiffness of cartilage.<sup>100</sup> Excessive proteolytic degradation of either one or both components results in the destruction of articular cartilage.<sup>101</sup> Cartilage is attacked from three sites in RA: (i) from the smooth surface of articular cartilage by a pannus formed from synovial fibroblasts, macrophages, and infiltrated leukocytes, (ii) from activated chondrocytes within the cartilage, and (iii) from osteoclasts, osteoclast precursor cells and invading synoviocytes from the subchondral bone side (Figure 7). Metalloproteases such as collagenases and aggrecanases have been implicated in the destruction of the cartilage matrix. Collagenases of the MMP family (e.g., MMP1, MMP13) are upregulated by RA-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  and they



**Figure 7.** Tridirectional erosion of cartilage in arthritic joints and proteases implicated in cartilage destruction (CTSK, cathepsin K; CTSL, cathepsin L; CTSB, cathepsin B; MMP, matrix metalloproteasee).

have until recently been regarded as the only type II collagen degrading proteases.<sup>102–104</sup> Furthermore, aggrecanase, a member of the ADAMS-family, has been demonstrated to cleave selectively in the interglobular domain (IGD) of aggrecan.<sup>105,106,107</sup> However, increasing evidence suggests a critical role of papainlike cathepsins in the pathogenesis of RA as well. Cysteine protease specific inhibitors such as peptidyl fluoromethyl ketones or peptidyl vinyl sulfones have been show to reduce cartilage erosion and inflammation in adjuvant induced arthritis.<sup>108–110</sup> Mu-LeuhomoPhe-vinyl sulfone (also known as LHVS; see Table 2, example 38) reduced inflammation by approximately 40% and joint destruction by 66% when administered in food at 2.2 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks.<sup>110</sup> The peptidyl vinyl sulfone inhibitor LHVS is an extremely potent cathepsin S inhibitor but also shows potency to other cathepsins including cathepsin K and parasitic cysteine proteases.<sup>111</sup> Since it is generally accepted that inflammatory processes precede the destruction of cartilage and bone in RA, it is not clear whether the primary effect of LHVS is the reduction of inflammation or a simultaneous and direct effect on cartilage and bone degrading cysteine protease activities.

Which cathepsins are expressed in RA joints? Cathepsins L, B, and K have been identified in synovial fibroblasts,<sup>72,112–114</sup> and it has been demonstrated that they are inducible by IL-1, interferon  $\gamma$ , TNF-α, and FGF.<sup>71,115</sup> Macrophage-like type A synoviocytes express cathepsin S and at low levels cathepsin K.<sup>71</sup> The major protease activity in osteoclasts is cathepsin K,35,60 whereas cathepsins B and L are the predominant cysteine proteases in chondrocytes.<sup>116</sup> Interestingly, Konttinen et al. observed recently the expression of cathepsin K in chondrocytes of advanced osteoarthritic cartilage.<sup>117</sup> The expression of cathepsin K in chondrocytes of RAdisease specimens has not yet been demonstrated. All cathepsins present in inflamed joints are capable to hydrolyze aggregan aggregates.<sup>114,118,119</sup> Of particular interest is that cathepsin S can degrade aggregan also efficiently at neutral pH,<sup>114</sup> whereas the activity of the other cysteine proteases is restricted to lysosomal acidic pH values. However, it should be noted that (i) extracellular matrix components such as glycosaminoglycans can stabilize otherwise alkaline pH labile cysteine proteases such as cathepsin B at alkaline pH<sup>55</sup> and (ii) that pH values

as low as pH 5 have been reported for diseased cartilage<sup>117,120</sup> which would provide an optimal extracellular environment for all cathepsin activities. In contrast to the hydrolysis of aggrecan, the degradation of type II collagen is restricted to activities of collagenolytic matrix metalloproteinases and cathepsin K.<sup>87</sup> Among all known human collagenolytic activities, cathepsin K activity alone is sufficient to degrade native type II collagen into small fragments. It is of particular interest, that the collagenase activity of cathepsin K requires cartilage resident glycosaminoglycans.<sup>56,57</sup> The potent collagenase activity of cathepsin K and its expression in cartilage degrading cells at the invasion front of the pannus suggest a critical role of cathepsin K in the degenerative pathology of RA.

A specific feature of RA is juxtaarticular osteoporosis due to subchondral bone resorption. There is clear evidence that osteoclasts and their mononuclear precursor cells are responsible for this process.<sup>121</sup> TRANCE/RANKL-deficient mice which are unable to form osteoclasts revealed decreased subchondral bone resorption in an RA mouse model.<sup>122</sup> Interestingly, cartilage erosion was not significantly decreased in these mice suggesting that the destruction of cartilage is not mediated by osteoclast-like cells. Cathepsin K has been demonstrated to be the major bone degrading activity in osteoclasts (see section 3.1.1.). Malformation of osteoclasts would affect the activity of cathepsin K in these cells. On the contrary, cartilage-degrading cells within the pannus were not affected by RANKL deficiency and thus should not affect the expression of cathepsin K in synovial fibroblast- and macrophage-like cells. It remains to be seen whether cathepsin K deficiency in mice will have a bone as well as cartilage preserving effect in a RA disease model. Besides osteoporosis, rheumatoid arthritis may represent the most promising clinical indication for the therapeutic use of selective cathepsin K inhibitors.

#### 3.1.3. Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is the major cause of death in the Western world. Approximately 50% of the mortality of the U.S. population is attributed to atherosclerosisrelated disorders. Atherosclerosis is characterized by a patchy thickening of arteries causing a reduction or obstruction of blood flow that eventually results in myocardial or cerebral infarctions or aortic aneurysms. A typical early sign of atherosclerosis is the formation of fatty streaks which consist of lipid-laden macrophages accumulating in the subendothelial layer of the intima. Later, fatty streaks develop into fibrous plaques consisting of intimal smooth muscle cells, connective tissue, and lipids. Cathepsins S and K have been localized in macrophages and smooth muscle cells in atheromas.<sup>64</sup> Both enzymes have a strong elastin-degrading activity<sup>67,123</sup> suggesting a role in the progressive erosion of the elastic arterial walls during atherosclerosis. A selective inhibitor of cathepsin S blocked approximately 80% of the elastolytic activity of IL-1 $\beta$  or IFN- $\gamma$  activated primary cultures of smooth muscle cells.<sup>64</sup> Shi et al.<sup>124</sup> reported that the expression of cystatin C, a potent

endogenous cathepsin inhibitor, is dramatically reduced in both atherosclerotic and aneurysmal aortic lesions. Furthermore, increased abdominal aortic diameter among 122 patients screened by ultrasonography correlated inversely with serum cystatin C levels. These findings suggest an important role of an imbalance between cathepsin activities and their endogenous inhibitors in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Besides cathepsins S and K, a third papain-like cysteine protease, cathepsin F, may play a critical role in the disease progression. During atherogenesis, low-density lipoprotein (LDL) particles become modified and fuse to form lipid droplets in the arterial intima. Proteolysis is one possible mechanism of droplet formation, since the lipid droplets contain degraded apolipoprotein apoB-100, and it has been shown that several neutral proteases can induce LDL fusion in vitro. We found cathepsin F within the macrophage-rich areas of the human coronary atherosclerotic intima and demonstrated the specific and efficient proteolytic degradation of apoB-100 by cathepsin F. The degradation of apoB-100 triggered the aggregation and fusion of LDL particles, which increased both the binding strength and accumulation of LDL to human arterial proteoglycans. This may indicate an important contribution of cathepsin F to the progressive accumulation of LDL-derived lipid droplets during atherogenesis. The specific inhibition of cathepsin F might be beneficial for the treatment of atherosclerotic diseases (Öörni and Brömme, unpublished data).

#### 3.1.4. Cancer

Tumor progression and metastasis require local proteolysis for the spatial expansion of tumors, for the generation of tumor supporting blood vessels (angiogenesis) and for the migration of transformed cells in and out of the vascular system (metastasis). Proteolytic activities from all major protease classes including papain-like cysteine proteases have been implicated and it is highly likely that these activities are organized in activation cascades. For example, procathepsin B can be activated by the aspartic protease, cathepsin D, by tissue and urokinase plasminogen activators (tPA and uPA), or by the serine protease, cathepsin G.<sup>125,126</sup> Active cathepsin B then can convert more uPA zymogen and plasminogen into their proteolytically active forms which have been demonstrated to have matrix metalloproteinase activating properties.<sup>127,128</sup> The same cascade of activation might also be true for cathepsin L.<sup>129</sup>

Proteases required for tumor invasion and metastasis can be expressed by tumor cells as well as surrounding stromal cells. For example, invading tumor cells may activate protease expression in stromal fibroblasts which assist in the degradation of the extracellular matrix. It has been shown that fibroblasts neighboring tumor cells have elevated levels of gelatinase B (MMP9).<sup>130</sup> We have shown that in breast tumor samples, cathepsin K is expressed in fibroblast-like cells (unpublished observation, DB). Considering the potent collagenase activity of cathepsin K it is conceivable that the enzyme contributes to the tumor expansion.

Increased expression levels of cathepsin B have been observed at the invasive edge of various tumors including bladder, colon, and prostate carcinomas.<sup>131–134</sup> Elevated levels of cathepsin L have been reported for kidney and testicular tumors, nonsmall cell carcinomas of the lung and in most cancers of the breast, ovary, colon, adrenal, bladder, prostate, and thyroid.<sup>135</sup> A specific role of cathepsin B in extracellular matrix degradation is supported by the findings that the protease reveals intracellular redistribution of its expression pattern in tumor cells when compared with normal cells. Campo et al.<sup>136</sup> observed that in colon carcinomas cathepsin B was redistributed from the apical region to the basal plasma membrane suggesting a role in basal membrane degradation. Moreover, it was demonstrated that cathepsin B can specifically bind to external cell surface proteins which increases the pH stability of the protease<sup>137–139</sup> and that cathepsin B co-localizes with the uPA receptor on cell surfaces.<sup>140</sup> Inhibition of cell-surface cathepsin B can prevent the activation of uPA, a well-known prognostic marker in cancer. Besides the expression of cathepsin B, also cathepsins L, H, and S have been correlated with tumor progression.<sup>141</sup> For example, high serum levels of cathepsin B and H in colorectal cancer patients correlated with shorter survival. The role of papainlike cathepsins is also supported by the finding that imbalances of protease and endogenous inhibitor expression tend to be higher in patients with malignant than with benign tumors.<sup>141</sup> Increased cathepsin L expression has been reported in invasive types of meningiomas.<sup>142</sup> However, it should be noted that data identifying cathepsins as diagnostic markers remain sketchy and in part contradicting. More studies are necessary to validate the relevance of those observations. The interested reader is referred to detailed reviews about the potential role of cathepsins in cancer.<sup>141,143–145</sup>

# 3.1.5. Inflammation and Immune System-Related Diseases

Although inflammation and immune responses are protective mechanisms of the organism to fight tissue injuries and infections, they are frequently connected to acute and chronic ailments such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, myasthenia gravis, or asthma. A common feature of these diseases is the presentation of exogenous antigens or autoantigens by the major histocompatibility complex of class II (MHC class II) which leads to appropriate immune responses. To launch a specific T-cell mediated immune response, T cells must recognize an antigen which has been processed and presented by antigen-presenting cells (APCs). T-cell activation by peptides bound to MHC class II molecules on APC is preceded by the endocytic uptake and processing of antigen by endosomal-lysosomal proteases. Two proteolytic events are required for MHC class II-mediated antigen presentation: (i) degradation of the antigen to antigenic peptides capable to bind in the binding grove of MHC class II complexes and (ii) degradation of the invariant chain (Ii) which blocks the binding of the antigenic peptide to the MHC grove (reviewed in refs 146–148) (Figure 8). It is generally



Figure 8. Role of cathepsins in MHC class II presentation.

accepted that cysteine and aspartic proteases participate in both processes. Antigen processing is probably a multiprotease-catalyzed process, and it proved difficult to identify individual proteases essential for processing. Gene deletion experiments of ubiquitously expressed aspartic and cysteine proteases such as cathepsins D and B revealed that antigen processing in mutant mice was not impaired thus indicating that redundant protease activities can replace cathepsins D and B.<sup>149</sup> To date, the only antigen-processing specific protease described is the nonpapain-like cysteine protease, asparagine endopeptidase (AEP). AEP appears to be essential for the processing of the microbial antigen tetanus toxin.<sup>150,151</sup> Specific progress has been made to understand the role of cysteine protease of the papain family in the degradation of the Ii chain.65,66,152 Ii is a 31-kDa chaperone molecule which binds to  $\alpha, \beta$  MHC class II molecules and guides them into the endosomal compartment. The most intimate contact between MHC class II molecules and Ii is in an approximately 15 amino acid long peptide region, called CLIP. CLIP binds similarly to an antigenic peptide in the binding groove of the MHC complex and is replaced by an antigenic peptide during peptide loading. To remove Ii from the MHC class II molecule, Ii must be degraded.<sup>153</sup> It has been demonstrated by in vitro and in vivo experiments that papain-like cathepsins are essential for the last processing step of the Ii, which leads to the 3 kDa CLIP peptide from a 10 kDa intermediate precursor.<sup>66,154</sup> The first cysteine protease identified as a CLIP releasing proteolytic activity was cathepsin S.<sup>66</sup> Using the highly potent vinyl sulfone cathepsin inhibitor, LHVS, which is specific for cathepsin S at nanomolar concentration, it was demonstrated that invariant chain processing and peptide loading could be blocked in bone-marrowderived antigen-presenting cells such as B-cells, and dendritic cells.<sup>66</sup> The characterization of cathepsin S deficient mice confirmed these findings in vivo.<sup>154,155</sup> Interestingly, cathepsin S deficiency significantly reduced the susceptibility of mice to collagen-induced arthritis suggesting that a selective inhibition of cathepsin S might be beneficial for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis.<sup>155</sup>

A cathepsin S inhibitor of the aldehyde class (see example 11 from Table 2) has been recently shown to be efficacious in a murine model for Sjögren syndrome. The compound profoundly blocked lymphocyte infiltration into the salivary and lacrimal glands, stopped antibody production and decreased the symptoms of the autoimmune disease. It was shown that the cathepsin S inhibitor markedly impaired the presentation of  $\alpha$ -fodrin antigen, an organ-specific autoantigen in Sjögren syndrome.<sup>156</sup>

Experiments with cathepsin S-deficient mice also demonstrated that cathepsin S is not universally responsible for the generation of CLIP in all types of APC. For example, antigen presentation in macrophages was less affected in the absence of cathepsin S<sup>155</sup> indicating that either Ii-chain processing cathepsin activities are redundant in these APCs or that distinct APCs express cell/tissue-specific cathepsins. Indeed, Shi et al. could show that in cathepsin L and S-deficient macrophages, cathepsin F can efficiently process Ii.157 Cathepsin F is a recently described member of the papain-family which appears to be preferentially expressed in macrophage-like cells.<sup>38,40</sup> On the other hand, Nakagawa demonstrated that cathepsin L-deficient mice exhibit an impairment of thymic antigen presentation resulting in low numbers of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells, and suggested that cathepsin L activity is responsible for the final degradation of Ii in cortical thymic epithelial cells.158

We have recently identified and partially characterized a novel human cysteine protease closely related to cathepsin L which is named cathepsin V. Cathepsin V shares 80% protein sequence identity with cathepsin L, but, in contrast to ubiquitously expressed cathepsin L, its expression is restricted to thymus, testis, and corneal epithelium. 59,62,76,159 We have localized cathepsin V in antigen presenting thymic cortical epithelial cells and have demonstrated the efficient processing of Ii by this cysteine protease (Telosa and Brömme, unpublished results). It is conceivable that in human thymus cathepsin V takes over the function described for cathepsin L in mouse thymus. It is of particular interest that cathepsin V is overexpressed in thymii of myasthenia gravis patients. Myasthenia gravis is an autoimmune disease of the neuromuscular system, and it can be hypothesized that the overexpression of cathepsin V facilitates autoimmune reactions.

#### 3.1.6. Allergic Inflammation/Asthma

House dust mites, Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus and *D. farinae*, are the most important causative factors associated with allergic diseases and to the rising incidence of asthma. Some studies have indicated that two highly related cysteine proteases (Der p1 and Der f1) are major house dust mite allergens found in feces of the ectoparasites.<sup>160</sup> They are expressed in the alimentary tract where they participate in the digestion of food.<sup>161</sup> The immunodominant allergen Der p1 is able to cleave IgE receptor (CD23) on B-lymphocytes and CD25 receptors,<sup>162</sup> resulting in the specific enhancement of IgE production.<sup>163</sup> Molecular modeling of Der p1 on the basis of other papain-like structures<sup>164</sup> revealed potential epitopes for IgE and IgG binding.<sup>165</sup> The mite protease is able to disrupt tight junctions of human lung epithelium cells, thus increasing the transepithelial passage of itself and other antigens into blood vessels.<sup>166</sup> This phenomenon may be more

prominent in the airways of asthmatic patients, since Der p1 inactivates the serine protease inhibitor  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin, a major component in the protection against proteases in the human respiratory tract.<sup>167</sup>

#### 3.2. Parasitic Infections

Parasitic diseases are distributed predominantly in endemic areas such as Africa, Asia, Central and South America and are relatively rare in industrialized countries. Increasing incidences of leishmaniasis, however, have been recently reported for Southern Europe.<sup>168</sup> Many human and domestic animal parasitic infections require transmission by local vectors involving sometimes an intermediate host, by skin infections or rarely by blood transfusions or organ transplants. According to the World Health Organization, 3.5 billion people or more than 50% of the world population suffer from some type of parasitic infection. Most of them result in chronic infection, causing severe morbidity in some cases. Despite various efforts to control the spread of major public health affecting parasitic diseases such as malaria, bilharzia, amebiasis, Chagas' disease, leishmaniasis or African sleeping sickness, the overall incidence of these diseases is increasing.<sup>169–172</sup> These infectious diseases have received only limited attention from pharmaceutical companies toward the development of new drugs<sup>173–175</sup> and vaccines.<sup>176</sup> Furthermore, most of the drugs currently in use were designed decades ago and exhibit decreasing efficacy due to increasing resistance of the causative parasites and show various serious side effects making them inappropriate for long-term treatment.<sup>175,177,178</sup> At present, there are no vaccines available for human and domestic animals parasitic infections.<sup>179</sup> In addition, the control of these diseases is hampered by the lack of understanding the mechanisms of action of most antiparasitic drugs and by the lack of mechanism-based novel drug targets within the parasites. Parasitic cysteine proteases may fill this void. In contrast to a simple digestive role, parasite derived cysteine proteases have been characterized to perform numerous indispensable roles in the biology of many species of parasites (e.g., in replication or growth, cell differentiation, signaling, host invasion).<sup>180–185</sup> Several of these proteases have been shown to be virulence factors by proteolytically degrading components of the host immune system including immunoglobulins and components of the complement system. They are able to degrade extracellular matrix proteins and enhance the processing of various zymogens such as procollagenases and proenzymes of the clotting system, or exhibit a kininogenase activity and release bradykinin.<sup>186-190</sup> Promising initial experiments using cysteine protease inhibitors have validated the suitability of these proteases as drug target candidates for antiparasitic chemotherapy.<sup>26,180,187,191–193</sup> This chapter will focus on major parasitic diseases and summarize the physiological functions of their papain-like cysteine proteases.

#### 3.2.1. Malaria

Human malaria is caused by infection with one of four species of the protozoa *Plasmodium* (*Plasmo-*

dium falciparum, P. vivax, P. malariae, and P. ovale) and represents the most prevalent tropical disease (300-500 million people are infected worldwide per year; http://www.who.int/tdr/diseases/malaria/ default.htm). Infections with *P. falciparum*, the most virulent human malaria parasite, cause more than one million deaths annually, especially in children under the age of five. The protozoa is transmitted from human to human by female Anopheles mosquitos. The basic elements of the life cycle of the parasite are the same for all four species. Gametocytes from the blood of an infected person reproduce sexually inside the mosquito and develop into infective sporozoites within one to two weeks. When the mosquito feeds on a human, it inoculates sporozoites, which quickly infect hepatocytes. After rupture of the cells where cysteine proteases are likely to be involved,<sup>194</sup> merozoites are released and invade erythrocytes which are eventually destroyed.<sup>195</sup> This erythrocytic life cycle is responsible for all clinical manifestations of malaria (fever, paroxysm, anemia, and jaundice). A separate cycle of development of the parasite (formation of gametocytes) occurs in the plasma maintaining the parasite's life cycle by infecting another mosquito.

Antimalarial drugs are chloroquine, quinine, mefloquine which increasingly generate resistance especially in *P. falciparum*.<sup>196</sup> Promising new drug targets are hemoglobin-degrading cysteine proteases in *P. falciparum*.<sup>192</sup> *P. falciparum* expresses three papain-like thiol proteases named falcipain-1, -2, and -3. In concert with two aspartic proteases named plasmepsins I and II,197 falcipains play a critical role in hemoglobin hydrolysis to provide amino acids for the development of the parasite in erythro-cytes.<sup>195,198,199</sup> Falcipain-2 and -3 (65% of amino acids identity) are predominantly expressed in the merozoite acidic food vacuole (analogous to lysosomes) where the hemoglobin hydrolysis occurs.<sup>200,201</sup> Falcipain-3 appears to be the more efficient hemoglobinase than falcipain-2. The function of falcipain-1 is the less understood due to its low abundance in trophozoites and its heterologous expression pattern.<sup>202</sup> The primary subsite specificities of falcipains are similar with a preference for P2 leucine residues over phenvlalanine and valine.<sup>201</sup> All three enzymes possess unusually long prosequences (2-3 times longer than)those of most mammalian and parasite cysteine proteases) which may act as membrane anchors.<sup>201,203</sup> For a deeper discussion of malarial cysteine proteases, the interested reader is referred to a recent review by Rosenthal et al.<sup>204</sup>

#### 3.2.2. American Trypanosomiasis (Chagas' Disease)

Among the trypanosomatid flagellated protozoae, Chagas' disease causing *T. cruzi* is the most important species from a public health point of view. The parasite is found throughout much of Central and South America. Chagas' disease is the leading cause of cardiomyopathy in these countries and affects more than 16 million people (http://www.who.int/tdr/ diseases/chagas/default.htm). Isolated cases have also been reported in the United States. In addition to the human host, *T. cruzi* is also found in various animals including domestic animals and rodents, but its transmission to humans via these species remains unclear. *T. cruzi* is transmitted to humans either by triatomine vectors (kissing bug) or infected blood products and is found as an intracellular form, the amastigote, and as a trypomastigote form in the human blood. In the vector, noninfective dividing forms (epimastigotes) transform into metacyclic infective trypomastigotes in the insect's midgut. While biting, infected bugs deposit faeces containing metacyclic trypomastigotes on the skin (human infections occurs through the bite wound or penetration of mucous membranes of the eyes, nose, or mouth). After cell invasion, the vacuoles are disrupted and the parasite escapes into the cytoplasm of the cell, where it replicates into round-shaped amastigotes. After several binary divisions, infective trypomastigotes are released into the blood and tissue spaces. Chagas' disease affects primarily the heart and the nervous system. After a brief acute phase, patients develop a chronic infection resulting in neurological disorders, in the formation of mega-organs (megacolon or megaesophagus) and in the damage of the heart muscle. Presently available therapeutics (nifurtimox and benznidazole) show limited efficacy and severe side effects for the treatment of chronic forms of the disease. Efforts to characterize novel drug targets in T. cruzi identified a papain-like cysteine protease, termed cruzipain (also known as cruzain).<sup>205-207</sup> Cruzipain is the major proteolytic enzyme present in all stages of the life cycle of the parasite.<sup>206,208</sup> Biotin-labeled peptidyl diazomethane inhibitors of cruzipain revealed the highest expression levels in the epimastigote forms.<sup>209</sup> Cruzipain is encoded by numerous polymorphic genes organized in tandem units (up to 130 in the Tul2 strain), resulting in relative complex isoforms with a substrate specificity between those of cathepsins L and B.<sup>210-212</sup> Inhibition of cruzipain has been shown to impair in vitro host cell invasion and to block amastigote replication as well as trypomastigoteamastigote differentiation, thereby arresting intracellular development.<sup>81,213-215</sup> More recently, a novel class of irreversible cysteine protease inhibitors, vinyl sulfones, induced an accumulation of the proform of cruzipain in the Golgi apparatus resulting in the death of *T. cruzi* epimastigotes<sup>216</sup> (see example 39 in Table 2). In vitro studies demonstrated that cruzipain is involved in the activation of the kinin cascade, favoring parasite invasion in the host cells expressing kinin receptors.<sup>190,217</sup> Several crystal structures of cruzipain-inhibitor complexes have been published. They are presently the only structures solved among parasite cysteine proteases. The structure of cruzipain revealed the presence of a Glu<sup>205</sup> residue (papain numbering) at the bottom of the S2 pocket, the major determinant of substrate specificity.<sup>218</sup> Similarly to human cathepsin B which contains Glu at the same position, the cruzipain S2 specificity pocket is able to bind both P2 arginine and phenylalanine residues.<sup>219</sup> To facilitate the design of specific inhibitors, the substrate specificity of this protease was mapped by screening fluorogenic substrate libraries with proteogenic and nonproteogenic amino acids. Data obtained showed that cruzipain accepts bulky hydrophobic aromatic amino acids (Phe, Tyr) as well as nonaromatic (3-cyclohexyl-alanine) residues in the P2 position. Arg or Leu are preferentially accepted in the P1 position, whereas positions P3 and P4 are less specific. Contrary to mammalian cathepsins L and B, cruzipain accommodates a proline at P2'.<sup>220–224</sup>

#### 3.2.3. African Trypanosomiasis

Most of the African trypanosomes are transmitted by the tsetse fly vector (*Glossina sp.*). The species that cause human African trypanosomiasis, also known as "sleeping sickness", are represented by two main subspecies of trypanosoma: T. brucei rhodesiense and T. brucei gambiense. It has been estimated that at least 50 million people are at risk to be infected with trypanosomes (http://www.who.int/tdr/diseases/tryp/ default.htm). African trypanosomes also infect wild and domestic animals (*T. congolense, T. vivax, and* T. brucei brucei) responsible for "nagana" in cattle which can be transmitted to humans from these animals. It has been recorded that nagana may affect more than 40 million cattle resulting in severe production losses in livestock and financial losses between \$6 and 12 billion per year.<sup>225</sup> In humans, infections with these parasites result in severe clinical manifestations or a lethal outcome if untreated. As opposed to *T. cruzi*, the life cycles of most African trypanosomes are exclusively extracellular. The African trypanosomes multiply by binary division in the blood stream. They are able to escape from host immune response attack by altering their surface antigens (variant surface glycoprotein) and starting a new multiplication cycle if the infection is untreated. Clinical manifestations of African trypanosoma infections are intermittent fever, headaches, maniacal behavior, transient edema, and excessive sleepiness. Infections especially affect the myocardium and central nervous system generating a chronic disease with generalized lymphadenopathy and often fatal meningoencephalitis. If untreated, death usually occurs within a few years. Facing the dramatic resurgence of trypanosomiasis in Africa and the toxicity and limited efficacy of current drugs, new chemotherapies are necessary. Over the past decade, studies have demonstrated the key role of trypanosomatids thiol-proteases in rational drug or vaccine design. In African trypanosomes, three major cysteine proteases have been studied: rhodesain from T. b. rhodesiense and its equivalent form in cattle, congopain from *T. congolense* and brucipain, from *T.* b. brucei (also known as trypanopain-Tb). All three enzymes promote lysosomal activities and have been identified in all life-cycle stages of the protozoa, particularly during the infective stage of parasite development.33,226,227 The molecular masses of the zymogens are between 33 and 40 kDa and they share amino acid sequences and biochemical characteristics similar to cruzipain and mammalian cathepsin L. Like cruzipain, the T. congolense enzymes are characterized by the presence of an unusual long glycosylated C-terminal extension, linked to the catalytic domain by a hinge region rich in proline residues in T. congolense (threonine-rich in cruzipain).<sup>193,228–230</sup> It has been suggested that the C-terminal extension

contributes to the high antigenicity of these proteases.<sup>231,232</sup> The inhibition of the cysteine protease by small synthetic inhibitors was shown to kill *T. brucei* trypanosomes in culture and in animal models<sup>233</sup> corroborating the validity of trypanosoma cysteine proteases as therapeutic drug targets. As the major proteolytic enzymes in the trypanosomatid lysosome compartment, they are likely to play a role in the degradation of phagocytozed host proteins. Unlike their mammalian counterparts, cysteine proteases of American or African trypanosomes are stable at neutral and alkaline pH values suggesting an additional extracellular function.<sup>33</sup>

Recently, it has been suggested that congopain may play a role in anemia and immunosuppression in African cattle (see review, ref 230). Antibodies against congopain have been shown to provide immunological protection against parasite infection in cattle.<sup>234</sup> The substrate specificity of congopain (*T. congolense*) is more restricted than that of cruzipain due to the presence of Leu<sup>205</sup> in the S2 substrate binding pocket.<sup>235</sup> Interestingly, the congopain S2 pocket is very similar to the appropriate binding site in cathepsin K displaying the rather unusual preference for proline residues at P2.<sup>230</sup>

#### 3.2.4. Leishmaniasis

Trypanosomatid flagellated protozoa of the genus Leishmania are the etiological agents of human leishmaniasis. Leishmania species are present worldwide in tropical and several temperate climate zones and infect about 12 million people annually (http:// www.who.int/tdr/diseases/leish/default.htm). In the last decade, new cases were reported in southwestern Europe.<sup>168</sup> The life cycles of these protozoa involve a blood sucking sand fly as vector that transmits the parasite to vertebrate hosts. Within the vector, the parasite motile promastigote forms are present and reproduce asexually in the gut of the fly. The promastigotes enter cells of the vertebrate host and change into non-motile amastigote forms that live and replicate in mammalian macrophages. Infections with related species of Leishmania cause either visceral (L. donovani, L. chagasi), cutaneous (L. tropica, L. major, L. mexicana) or mucocutaneous diseases (L. braziliensis). Left untreated, the visceral forms result in high rates of mortality and there are no vaccines available for this disease.<sup>236</sup> The problem of leishmaniasis deals with the inadequacy of current chemotherapies as previously mentioned for other protozoal infections. An attractive potential target for new chemotherapies is a family of cathepsin L- and B-like proteases found in all species of Leishmania. They are predominantly expressed and active in the amastigote forms and to a lesser extent in promastigotes.<sup>237,238</sup> The genomic organization of the cysteine protease gene isolated from L. mexicana consists of 19 tandemly repeated genes encoding isoenzymes similar to mammalian cathepsin L.183 Similar genomic organizations of cathepsin L-like cysteine protease genes were described in *L. donovani* and *L.* chagasi.<sup>239</sup> Cysteine protease inhibitors inhibit the growth and replication of L. major<sup>237,240</sup> and of L. mexicana<sup>241,242</sup> and more generally block the interaction with the mammalian host.<sup>243</sup> For instance, cathepsin B-like cysteine protease-deficient mutants of *L. mexicana* revealed a significant reduction of the infection rate of macrophages.<sup>244</sup> In Leishmania, three types of cysteine protease have been identified. Type I (cathepsin L-like) proteases are present at the amastigote stages of L. major and L. mexicana and are encoded by a multiple gene copy with an unusual C-terminal extension, characteristic of trypanosomatid cysteine proteases from *T. cruzi*, *T. congolense*, and *T. brucei*.<sup>238</sup> Type II (cathepsin L-like) cysteine proteases, present at the amastigote and in promastigote stages, are encoded by a single copy<sup>245,246</sup> and have been described in L. pifanoi, L. major, and L. mexicana species.<sup>247</sup> Type III cathepsin B-like proteases have been described in L. mexicana<sup>248,249</sup> and in *L. major* with 82% amino acid sequence identities with each other.<sup>238</sup> However, despite the sequence and structural similarities (45% sequence identity) with human cathepsin B, the cathepsin B-like protease in *L. major* is not able to cleave synthetic substrates with an arginine residue in position P2. Instead of the cathepsin B glutamic acid residue at position 205, the L. major protease has a glycine residue.<sup>250</sup> Replacing the glycine by a glutamic acid residue by site-directed mutagenesis restored cathepsin B-like substrate specificity, confirming that the structurally cathepsin B-like protease of L. major has the P2 substrate specificity of cathepsin L-like enzymes.<sup>251</sup> A significant reduction of macrophage infectivity was observed with mutants lacking either type I or II or both genes indicating the importance of these enzymes as virulence factors in the physiopathology and development of leishmaniasis.<sup>243,252,253</sup> Surprisingly, besides its homology to cruzipain, the type II protease from L. mexicana has no kininogenase activity.<sup>222</sup> Substrate specificity studies revealed a preference for phenylalanine and leucine in P2, arginine and lysine in P3, P1', and P3' while the other position appeared to be nonspecific.<sup>254,255</sup> Subsites S2, S1 of the type II cysteine protease were explored in more detail using fluorescent substrates containing non-proteogenic basic amino-acid branched with an aromatic or hydrophobic group.256,257 Only two substrates containing residues 4-aminomethyl-cyclohexylalanine (Ama) or 4-aminocyclohexyl-alanine at the P1 position were resistant to proteolysis and inhibited the enzyme with  $K_i$  values < 30 nM. As determined for cruzipain, aromaticity in P2 position is not necessary for S2/P2 interaction since Ama was well accepted in the S2 pocket of the recombinant cysteine protease from L. mexicana. On the basis of these data, a new combinatorial library of peptide ketone inhibitors was screened against the protease.<sup>258</sup>

#### 3.2.5. Giardiasis

The flagellated protozoan *Giardia lamblia* is the most common intestinal human parasite found throughout the world, especially in Asia, Africa, and Latin America. It is the etiological agent of gastrointestinal giardiasis responsible for chronic diarrhea and malabsorption. About 200 million people have symptomatic giardiasis. In the U.S., 2.5 million new infections are reported annually (http://www.tulane.edu/~wiser/protozoology/notes/

intes.html#giardia; http://www.cdc.gov/epo/mmwr/ preview/mmwrhtml/ss4907a1.htm). Most G. lamblia infections result from ingestion of contaminated water or food, containing a resistant cyst form of trophozoites. The cystic form allows the parasite to survive outside the body environment for long periods of time. Infection is initiated by the release of the motile trophozoites from the cyst in the host and this excystation is mediated by cathepsin B-like cysteine proteases.<sup>259</sup> It has been shown that cysteine protease inhibitors can prevent excystation.<sup>26</sup> However, the proteases do not seem to be involved in the motility or the replication of the trophozoites.<sup>259</sup> Three cathepsin B-like proteases (GlCP1, GlCP2, and GICP3) have been described in the cytoplasmic vacuoles of *G. lamblia*. Interestingly, these proteases do not possess the occluding loop characteristic of mammalian cathepsin B. In contrast, other cathepsin B-like proteases from protozoa and helminth parasites possess comparable occluding loops although they reveal various deletions or insertions of amino acids. To date, the effect of these loop modifications has not been studied in detail with respect to the endo/exopeptidase activity of the parasitic proteases.

#### 3.2.6. Trichomoniasis

Trichomonas vaginalis is a flagellated protozoan which infects the urogenital system, responsible for vaginitis and urethral discharge (trichomoniasis). Trichomoniasis is the most prevalent sexually transmitted disease, affecting several million people every year, particularly in Africa and North America.<sup>260</sup> T. vaginalis infection may also increase the rate of HIV transmission by degrading the secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor.<sup>261</sup> Contrary to giardiasis, there is no cystic form in the life cycle, so transmission is via the trophozoite stage. Cervicovaginal epithelium colonization through the mucus layer requires the adherence of the parasite and extracellular matrix degradation implicating the role of proteolytic activities.<sup>262</sup> 2-D gel electrophoresis analysis revealed 23 different cysteine proteases with high molecular masses up to 96 kDa in *T. vaginalis*.<sup>263</sup> Some of the proteases participate in cytoadherence,<sup>262,264</sup> hemolysis,<sup>265</sup> cytotoxicity,<sup>266</sup> and immunoevasion.<sup>267</sup> They are able to degrade C3 complement and some extracellular matrix proteins, i.e., collagen IV and fibronectin. Another immunogenic cysteine protease has been described (CP30) which is secreted into the vagina during infection and is involved in cytoadherence.<sup>268</sup> Cell culture experiments using peptidyl acyloxymethyl ketone inhibitors indicated that cysteine protease inhibitors can block T. vaginalis growth.<sup>269</sup>

A cathepsin B-like protease with a type I collagenolytic activity has been isolated from *T. tenax*, responsible for pulmonary trichomoniasis.<sup>270,271</sup>

#### 3.2.7. Amoebiasis

*Entamoeba histolytica*, an invasive endoparasite, and *E. dispar*, a noninvasive ectoparasite infect more than 50 million people worldwide causing amoebic dysentery (see review, ref 189). *E. histolytica* penetrates the host's intestinal walls and also affects the

liver where it can destroy liver parenchyma cells and produce large abscesses. If left untreated, amoebiasis can be fatal and causing mortality in over 70,000 people annually. Amoebiasis constitutes the third most frequent cause of death by parasitic infections after malaria and schistosomiasis. The life cycle of *E. histolytica* involves motile trophozoites (the feeding stage of the parasite) and infections occur ingesting the amoebic cyst in contaminated food or water. Excystation and invasion of the parasite into the host tissue require the proteolytic activity of cysteine proteases. The proteases are involved in the degradation of the intestinal mucoproteins and extracellular matrix proteins.<sup>272</sup> In addition, cysteine proteases from *E. histolytica* have been shown to be virulence factors<sup>273</sup> and are highly immunogenic proteins in the serum of infected patients.<sup>189</sup> A purified cysteine protease activity from E. histolytica was able to cleave human IgA, IgG and specifically the complement components C3 and C5 leading to a circumvention of host immunity.274 Two enzymes named amoebapain or EhCP1<sup>275</sup> and histolysin<sup>272</sup> have been characterized. Despite their high amino acid sequence identity (87%), they display distinct activities. To date, three other cysteine protease genes have been identified in *E. histolytica*. All gene products shares amino acid sequences identities between 36 and 46% with human cathepsin L.

One major 30 kDa cathepsin L-like cysteine protease was identified from a related amoeba, *Naegleria fowleri* which is responsible for amoebic meningoencephalitis in humans and may cause in rare cases death.<sup>276</sup> This amoeba infects the central nervous system via the nasal mucosa and is responsible for an acute hemorrhage in the brain. In vitro, irreversible thiol-protease inhibitors abolished the degradation of extracellular matrix proteins by *Naegleria* trophozoites thus potentially acting as anti-invasive agents.<sup>276</sup>

#### 3.2.8. Schistosomiasis

Chronic human schistosomiasis or often known as Bilharzia is by far the most important trematode (blood fluke) infection. There are a number of species of schistosomes that can infect humans, but most human infections are caused by Schistosoma mansoni, S. japonicum, and S. haematobium. These parasites are distributed in tropical regions, afflicting about 200-500 million people and resulting in 1 million deaths each year, the second most deadly parasite disease after malaria (http://www.who.int/ tdr/diseases/schisto/default.htm). Infection is initiated by contact with water containing the larva stages of the parasites (cercariae). The complex life cycles of human schistosomes are similar to each other. It includes snails as intermediate hosts and a vertebrate as a definitive host. After the cercariae penetrate the skin, the immature worms (schistosomula) enter the circulatory system and migrate into the lung and liver. After schistosomes penetrate the walls of the veins and the small intestine (S. mansoni and S. japonicum) or urinary bladder (S. haematobium), mature forms of schistosomes cause a significant amount of damage to the tissues of the host.

They utilize hemoglobin as a major source for their growth, development and reproduction using several proteases, like cathepsins B, L, C, D, and legumainlike proteases.<sup>191</sup> Schistosomes also require proteolytic activities for the penetration of human skin and the evasion of immunological responses.<sup>184</sup> Interestingly, treatment of mice infected with schistosomes with broad spectrum cysteine protease inhibitors showed a significant reduction in worm burden, hepatomegaly, and the number of eggs produced per female worm.<sup>277</sup> Cathepsin L-like and cathepsin B-like activities have been described at different stages of the trematode development cycles (see review, ref 191). Two isoforms of cathepsin L (SmCL1, SmCL2) have been isolated from adult S. mansoni.<sup>278,279</sup> Apparent homologues papain-like cysteine proteases (SjCL1, SjCL2) have been described in S. japonicum.280 A cathepsin B-like protease known as Sm31 (*S. mansoni*) is the major proteolytic activity secreted by adult worms. The protease has a high hemoglobinase activity and represents a highly immunogenic antigen in infected mammals.281 Sequences of cathepsin C-like proteases have been reported in S. mansoni and S. japonicum.<sup>282</sup>

## 3.2.9. Fascioliasis

Fascioliasis or liver fluke disease is caused by the trematode, Fasciola hepatica, found in animals (sheep and cattle) as well as in humans. It has been estimated that more than 2 million people are infected worldwide.<sup>283</sup> This disease is a major health problem and also results in significant economic losses (estimated at >\$200 billion per annum) in cattle and sheep livestock in Australia, Europe, China, and South America.<sup>284</sup> *F. gigantica* significantly contributes to the losses of domestic ruminants in Africa and the Middle East. Animals infect themselves by eating vegetation or drinking water contaminated with cercariae. The flukes (worms) migrate into the intrahepatic bile ducts where they mature and cause biliary tract obstruction and liver damage. Increasing resistance to the present chemotherapy against fasciolosis in animals asks for novel therapeutic approaches. To confer protection against liver fluke infection, cathepsin L-like proteases are good candidates for rational design of new antipara-site drugs or potential vaccines.<sup>284</sup> Two isoforms of cathepsin L-like proteases (FheCL1 and FheCL2) have been isolated from the excretion/secretion products of liver flukes.<sup>285,286</sup> They have been localized to the reproductive organs of F. hepatica suggesting that they may play a role in the reproduction of the parasites.<sup>287</sup> It has been demonstrated that they are immunodominant antigens in human fascioliasis.<sup>288</sup> Antibodies against cysteine proteases have shown promising results in terms of protection against parasite infection.<sup>289</sup> Studies showed that cysteine proteases facilitate the migration of the parasite in various host tissues by degrading tissue and matrix proteins, the utilization of host tissue as source of nutrients (e.g., hemoglobin degradation) as well as the modulation of the host immune response.<sup>284</sup> For instance, they are able to release kinins from human high molecular weight kininogens<sup>290</sup> helping the evasion of the parasite. Besides their ability to cleave

host collagen and other extracellular matrix components such as laminin, *fasciola* cysteine proteases are also capable to degrade all human IgG subclasses in the hinge region and prevent attack by host immune cells.<sup>291–293</sup> This function was also described for a *F. hepatica* cathepsin B-like protease.<sup>294</sup>

#### 3.2.10. Paragonimiasis

Infection with adult forms of the trematode, Paragonimus westermani, may cause chronic inflammatory lung disease mimicking tuberculosis in humans. The most important endemic areas are in Asia, West Africa, South and Central America. About 20 million people became infected by eating crabs or crayfish infected by metacercariae (http://www.who.int/ctd/ intpara/burdens.htm). The metacercariae migrate in the digestive tract, and finally enter lung tissue and develop into adult worms. Worms may also develop in the brain, causing paraplegia or seizures. While invading host intestine, several different secreted cysteine proteases have been identified ( $\geq$  6) in different maturation stages of the trematode. They participate in a broad range of biological processes such as tissue migration and immune evasion.<sup>295</sup> Similar to G. lamblia, excystment of the lung fluke is modulated by cysteine protease inhibitors. One cathepsin L-like cysteine protease (PWCP1) has been localized mainly in the vitelline gland of the worms and may therefore participate in the biosynthesis of *P. westermani* eggs.<sup>296</sup> Its amino acid sequence is highly homologous to human cathepsin F (49% identity).<sup>297</sup> In addition, PCWP1 possesses a long proregion of 210 amino acids which contains the motif DRFNMQ (instead of ERFNAQ in cathepsin F) and also a cystatin-like domain. These data suggest that PCWP1 belongs to the cathepsin F subfamily of papain-like thiol proteases.

#### 3.2.11. Intestinal Nematodes (Roundworms) Infections

Several species of nematodes are responsible for intestinal roundworms infections. Among them Ascaris lumbricoides is one of the largest and most common parasitic nematode (ascarids) found in human intestines. It has been estimated that up to 25% of the world's population is infected with this nematode and that approximately 200 million of the cases are symptomatic (http://www.biosci.ohio-state.edu/ ~parasite/ascaris.html). The parasite is responsible for pneumonia caused by the worm's migration through the lungs. It also affects the gastrointestinal track or the bile or pancreatic ducts by blocking them. The life cycle of *A. lumbricoides* is similar to *Ascaris* suum (pig) and consists of the ingestion of contaminated food or water or through contact with infected soil. Nematodes grow and develop through four molts, the last two in the final host. In the small intestine, the eggs transform into juvenile forms and penetrate the small intestine before entering the circulatory and respiratory system. Serious damages occur during the migration of the worms causing hemorrhages in the lung. The juvenile worm then migrates up into the pharynx to be re-swallowed again, and returning to the small intestine where the adult worms mature. Numerous cathepsin B-like protein sequences have been published or reported in ascarids<sup>298,299</sup> and other parasitic nematodes such as the hookworms *Ancylostoma duodenale*, *A. caninum*,<sup>300</sup> *Necator americanus*, the whipworm *Trichuris trichiura* and *T. suis*,<sup>301</sup> the intestinal threadworm *Strongyloides stercoralis*, *S. ratti*,<sup>302</sup> *Ostertagia ostertagi*,<sup>303</sup> *Onchocerca volvulus*,<sup>304</sup> and *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*.<sup>305</sup>

Metallo- and serine proteases are also expressed by these parasitic nematodes and are thought to play an essential role in the molting of the third (L3) stage larvae, digestion, and facilitating tissue migration.<sup>306</sup> Cysteine proteases are involved in larval invasion at different stages of these parasites.<sup>26</sup> In vitro, thiolprotease class specific inhibitors blocked the development of L3 stage larvae of *A. suum*, affecting molting.<sup>299</sup> Experiments also showed that cysteine proteases (similar to cathepsin C or cathepsin L) of the filarial nematode *Onchocerca volvulus* are located in the cuticula surrounding the molting L3 larvae stage.<sup>304</sup>

Ancylostoma caninum, which induces human eosinophilic enteritis, contains two cysteine proteases (AcCP1 and AcCP2) belonging to the cathepsin B-like subfamily. They share a 61% amino acid sequence identity with Haemonchus contortus and about 50% with human cathepsin B. The proteases are expressed in the esophageal, amphidial and excretory glands in adult hookworms<sup>300</sup> and like N. america*nus*<sup>307</sup> are responsible for necatoriasis (see for review, ref 308). Cysteine protease activities were detected in excretory/secretory products of the live third-stage larvae of N. americanus<sup>309</sup> and were able to cleave immunoglobulins. Hemoglobulin-degrading activity in the pH range 5 to 7 and fibrinogenolytic activity at pH 3.5 was detected.<sup>310</sup> A hemoglobinolytic activity was also reported in adult Ascaris suum.298 T. suis adult worms expressed a cathepsin B-like activity in the gut which was also found as a secreted form suggesting a role in feeding and digestion.<sup>301</sup>

While cathepsin B-like cysteine proteases are prominent among nematodes, cathepsin L-like enzymes are less common. However, genes encoding cathepsin L- and S-like proteases have been described in a cDNA library of the plant parasitic nematode *Heterodera glycines.*<sup>311</sup>

Toxocara canis, the etiological agent of toxocariasis, expresses a cathepsin L-like activity (TcCP-1) in its excretory/secretory products which shares a 69% amino acid sequence identity with the cathepsin L found in the filarial parasite *Brugia pahangi*.<sup>312</sup> It is an immunogenic antigen which could serve as a diagnostic marker for human toxocariasis. Like cruzipain, TcCP1 shares a substrate specificity with cathepsin B due to a Glu<sup>205</sup> residue at the bottom of the S2 substrate binding pocket. Interestingly, AcCP1 protease from *A. caninum*, a cathepsin B-like enzyme at the sequence level, exhibits a cathepsin L-like specificity with a preference for aromatic residues in the P2 position. A glutamine residue is found a position 205 in its S2 pocket.<sup>313</sup> Beside the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, one of the best characterized worms is *Haemonchus contortus*.<sup>314–316</sup> Four genes encoding cathepsin B-like proteases in H. contortus exhibit cathepsin L-like substrate specificities by lacking the residue  $Glu^{205}$  in the S2 subsite pocket.<sup>317,318</sup> Immunocytochemical studies localized these proteases to the microvillar intestinal tissue of the parasite's gut and during the blood-feeding parasitic stages exclusively in its excretory/secretory products.<sup>319</sup> In vitro experiments showed the uptake and digestion of hemoglobin<sup>320</sup> and the degradation of extracellular matrix proteins such as collagen and elastin.<sup>321</sup> Several other uncharacterized genes (at least 11 more genes) encoding cathepsin B-like proteases have been identified in *H. contortus.*<sup>322</sup>

Recently a cathepsin X-like cysteine protease gene was found in adult and infective stages of larvae *T. canis* with 59% protein sequence identity with human cathepsin  $X.^{323}$  Human infections by the cestode *Spirometra* leading to sparganosis involved a cathepsin L-like protease which may be involved in the pathogenesis of this tapeworm, including tissue penetration, nutrition, and immunoevasion in vitro (see for review, ref 184).

## 4. Recent Developments in Inhibitors Design for Cysteine Proteases

The activity of papain-like cysteine proteases is regulated by a large number of endogenous proteinbased inhibitors. Two major inhibitor classes are known: (i) cystatins and (ii) serpins which are active toward cysteine proteases. Among the cystatins, intracellularly, extracellular-transcellularly and intravascularly expressed inhibitors can be distinguished. Cystatins have been implicated in a wide range of regulatory and disease-related processes such as in immune responses,324 cancer,141,325 and immune evasion by parasites.<sup>326</sup> More recently, members of the serpin inhibitor family (serpin: serine protease *in*hibitors) have been demonstrated to show cross-reactivity toward cathepsins (see for review, ref 327). It is, however, not in the objective of this review to discuss the natural cysteine protease inhibitors in detail. The interested reader is referred to various reviews discussing the roles of endogenous cysteine protease inhibitors in health and disease as well as structure-function issues.<sup>328-331</sup>

The design and synthesis of cysteine protease inhibitors has a long history and has been extensively reviewed in recent years.<sup>80,329,332-336</sup> Compounds synthesized included a wide range of peptide aldehydes, methyl ketones, nitriles as reversibly acting inhibitors and diazomethanes, halomethyl ketones, acyloxymethyl ketones, O-acylhydroxamates, and epoxysuccinyl derivatives as irreversible inhibitors. Whereas early developments of cysteine protease inhibitors provided useful tools to study the protease activity, only recently significant progress has been accomplished to develop cysteine protease inhibitors into drugs. This development was mostly driven by the dramatic increase in our understanding of papainlike cysteine proteases as pharmaceutically valid targets as outlined above. This section will concentrate on recent developments in cysteine protease inhibitor drug design and examples for each inhibitor class are compiled in Table 2.

#### 4.1. Diacyl Bis Hydrazides

Diacyl bis hydrazides evolved from previously reported diaminopropanones which have been developed as potent and selective cathepsin K inhibitors spanning both S and S' subsites of the substrate binding cleft.<sup>99</sup> The incorporation of bis aza analogues increased the potency while maintaining the selective profile for cathepsin K. The most potent compounds possess a leucine residue either in the P2 or P2' position or in both (see Table 2; examples 1, 2, and 4). Example 4 is a reversible cysteine protease inhibitor which contains a peptidomimetic thiazole ring in place of an amide bond and may form an acyl adduct with the enzyme. In contrast, the acyclic examples 1, 2, and 3 are irreversible inhibitors of cathepsin K. The importance of a proper S2P2 and S2'P2' binding interaction was demonstrated by the replacement of the leucine residues by alanine residues (example 3). The second-order rate constant of the alanine-containing derivative dropped by more than 2-orders of magnitude with most of the loss due to a dramatically reduced affinity of the compound.<sup>97</sup> In contrast, replacements of the P2' leucine residue with other hydrophobic residues such as norvaline (Table 2; example 5) or with a non-amino acid aromatic moiety (Table 2; example 6) retained the potency of the compounds.<sup>337</sup> Example 1 was evaluated in a human osteoclast resorption assay and showed efficacy with an IC50 value 0.34  $\mu$ M. A slightly modified version of example 1 was tested in an acute model of bone resorption (TPTX rat model) in vivo and caused a highly significant inhibition of the osteoclast-mediated calcemic response to hPTH.97

## 4.2. Diamino Pyrrolidinone

Above described diacyl hydrazides and cyclic thiazole ring analogues were susceptible to acylation which may lead to the proteolytic cleavage of the inhibitors. Therefore, the bis hydrazide moiety was modified by the incorporation of five-membered rings under maintaining the P2 and P2' isobutyl structures (Table 2; example 7). This compound retained the nanomolar affinity toward cathepsin K. However, the removal of the P2 isobutyl chain increased the  $K_i$ value 10-fold iterating the importance of P2S2 hydrophobic interactions (Table 2; example 8).<sup>338</sup>

#### 4.3. Aldehydes

Aldehydes and its analogues continue to be attractive moieties despite their well-established chemical reactivity. Recent efforts in designing aldehyde-based inhibitors are focused on achieving high selectivity toward cathepsins. For example, potent tripeptidyl leucine analogues (Table 2; example 9) targeting cathepsin K have been evaluated in rat adjuvant arthritis and PTH induced osteoporosis models.<sup>339</sup>

A potent and selective cathepsin S inhibitor was prepared by incorporating an  $\alpha$ -keto moiety with a nontypical P2 requirement for cathepsin S, phenylalanine (Table 2; example 10). Against expectation, this compound proved to be very potent and selective for cathepsin S when compared with cathepsin B (400-fold potency difference). The kinetic characterization suggested a reversible, slow binding mode of inhibition.<sup>340</sup> Along these lines, the introduction of an acetylated lysine residue in P2 (Table 2; example 11) resulted in an additional potent and selective cathepsin S inhibitor which was active in the nanomolar concentration whereas the inhibition of cathepsin B and L required micromolar inhibitor concentrations.<sup>341</sup> This compound has been recently tested in a murine model of Sjögren syndrome and proved efficacious.<sup>156</sup>

Peptidomimetic derivatives of monopeptidyl aldehydes were potent and selective cathepsin L inhibitors and showed in vivo efficacy in a mice model of bone resorption. Examples with isoleucine, leucine, and alanine were similarly potent (Table 2; examples 12, 13, and 14). A significant loss of activity was observed with a glycine-substituted derivative.<sup>342</sup>

Katunuma et al.<sup>343</sup> introduced synthetic aldehyde analogues of vitamin B6 as cathepsin inhibitors. Surprisingly, the replacement of the phosphate ester in vitamin B6 by propionate resulted in a modestly potent cathepsin B inhibitor (Table 2; example 15). The extension of the example 15 with a isoleucine moiety (Table 2; example 16) improved significantly the potency and provided a cathepsin K selective inhibitor. The compound also demonstrated efficacy in an in vitro bone resorption assay.

Since cysteine and metalloproteinases have been implicated in tumor invasion and metastasis, double-headed inhibitors would be desirable. Yamamoto et al.<sup>344</sup> synthesized inhibitors which have an aldehyde moiety for cathepsin inhibition and a chelating hydroxamic acid portion for the inhibition of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP). These dual inhibitors displayed remarkable activities toward both protease classes in the nanomolar concentration range. Depending on the amino acid substitutions used, the selectivity of the compounds could be either tilted toward cathepsin or MMP activity. An alkyl group at the  $\alpha$ -carbon of the aldehyde moiety was essential for maintaining cathepsin L potency (Table 2; examples 17–20).

## 4.4. Acyclic and Cyclic Ketones

Attempts to reduce the high reactivity of the aldehyde group led to the development of acyclic and cyclic ketone derivatives.  $\alpha$ -Substituted ketone dipeptides revealed potency toward cathepsin K which could be modulated by modifications of the ketone moiety.  $K_i$  values in the low nanomolar range could be achieved with a dipeptidyl phenyloxymethyl ketone (Table 2; example 21) whereas an appropriate methoxymethyl ketone (Table 2; example 22) resulted in a 20-fold decrease in affinity.<sup>345</sup>

The design of mercaptomethyl ketones as cruzipain inhibitors (Table 2; example 23) was based on specificity information from diazomethyl ketones and vinyl sulfones (see section 4.8.) inhibitors. Several modifications of the structures such as the incorporation of pyridine, homophenylalanine, and leucine to improve solubility and bioavailability while maintaining selectivity and potency, proved to be successful. Example 23 displayed a greater than 100- or 1000fold selectivity for cruzipain when compared with cathepsins B or L, respectively.<sup>346</sup>

Conformationally constrained cyclic ketones were aimed to lock the bioactive conformation of the compounds and to improve bioavailability. The cyclic conformers did not lose potency toward cathepsin K (Table 2; example 24) and thus provided a useful scaffold for further modifications. The inhibitors covering extended binding sites of cathepsin K were significantly more potent than the single site analogue (compare examples 24 and 25). The introduction of a sulfonamide moiety in combination with a six membered ring oxy ketone resulted in a very potent and selective cathepsin K inhibitor (Table 2; example 26).<sup>347,348</sup>

The introduction of an azepanone moiety to prevent epimerization of the chiral center in the cyclic ketone analogues resulted in a further improvement of the potency into the subnanomolar range for human cathepsin K and in increased bioavailabilities of the compounds (Table 2; example 27).<sup>349</sup> Example 27 was tested in a nonhuman primate model of osteoporosis and resulted in a significant reduction in serum markers of bone resorption relative to untreated controls. After 5 days of dosing, the reductions in N-terminal telopeptides (NTx) and C-terminal telopeptides (CTx) of type I collagen were 61 and 67%, respectively. This is the first example using nonhuman primates to evidence the viability of cathepsin K inhibitors as alternative treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis.96

#### 4.5. Nitriles

Recently, nonpeptidyl derivatives of nitriles employing pyrrolidine or azetidine rings have been demonstrated to be potent cysteine protease inhibitors. Interestingly, a four-membered ring derivative (Table 2; example 29) was approximately 10-fold more potent than the five-membered ring analogue (Table 2; example 28) which was possibly due to the increased chemical reactivity of the azetidine ring. Nonpeptidyl nitriles act as reversible, but time-dependent inhibitors by forming a cleavable isothio-urea ester link with the enzyme.<sup>350</sup>

New dipeptidyl cyanamides targeting cathepsin B revealed IC50 values in the low nanomolar range whereas cathepsins L and S required approximately 100-fold higher inhibitor concentrations for a comparable inhibition. These compounds inhibited cathepsin B with a reversible mode of inhibition by forming an unstable thioimidazole ester linkage with the active site cysteine residue of the protease (Table 2; example 30).<sup>351</sup>

## 4.6. Epoxysuccinyl Analogues

Structural information about the reverse mode of binding of the propeptide to active cathepsin B was utilized in designing novel, extended active site spanning E-64 peptidyl analogues. Selective cathepsin B or cathepsin L inhibitors were synthesized with the most active compounds spanning over six subsites (P4 to P2' residues). The most potent

## Table 2. Novel Inhibitors of Papain-Like Cysteine Proteases

	Chemical Class	Structure	Activity	Mode of inhibition	Ref.
1	diacyl - bis hydrazide	$\begin{array}{c} & & & \\ & & & \\ &$	cat K k <sub>obs</sub> /[I]=3.1x10 <sup>6</sup> M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> Ki <sub>app</sub> =0.7 nM cat S Ki = 11 nM potent cat K and S inhibitor	irreversible	97
2	diacyl - bis hydrazide		cat K $k_{obs}$ /[I] =6.9x10 <sup>5</sup> M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> Ki <sub>app</sub> = 1.0 nM cat S Ki = 44 nM potent cat K inhibitor	irreversible	97
3	diacyl - bis hydrazide	$ \begin{array}{c} O & H & O & H \\ O & N & W & N & N & V \\ O & N & W & N & N & V \\ H & O & H & H & O \\ H & O & H & H & O \\ \end{array} $	cat K k <sub>obs</sub> /[I] =2.2x10 <sup>3</sup> M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> Ki <sub>app</sub> > 1000 nM loss of potency	irreversible	97
4	bis hydrazide - cyclic analog	$\begin{array}{c} & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\$	cat K Ki <sub>app</sub> = 10 nM cat B Ki <sub>app</sub> = 5200 nM cat L Ki <sub>app</sub> =700 nM cat S Ki <sub>app</sub> >1000 nM selective cat K inhibitor	reversible	97
5	diacyl- bis hydrazide		cat K K <sub>obs</sub> /[I] = 4.0x10 <sup>6</sup> M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> Ki <sub>app</sub> =0.8 nM potent cat K inhibitor	irreversible	337
6	diacyl - bis hydrazide peptidomimetic		cat K K <sub>obs</sub> /[I]= 3.2x10 <sup>5</sup> M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> Ki <sub>app</sub> = 12 nM potent cat K inhibitor	irreversible	337
7	diamino pyrrolidinone		cat K Ki = 33 nM potent cat K inhibitor	unknown	338
8	diamino pyrrolidinone		cat K Ki = 330 nM	unknown	338
9	tripeptidyl aldehyde		cat K Ki <sub>app</sub> = 1.4 nM potent cat K inhibitor	reversible	339
10	α keto aldehyde		cat S Ki =0.185 nM cat B Ki = 76 nM selective cat S inhibitor	reversible slow binding	340
11	aldehyde	H AC	cat S 40% inh.at 10 <sup>-8</sup> M 86% inh. at 10 <sup>-7</sup> M selective cat S inhibitor	possibly reversible	156, 341
12	aldehyde		cat L IC <sub>50</sub> = 1.9 nM cat B IC <sub>50</sub> = 1500 nM selective cat L inhibitor	reversible	342
13	aldehyde		cat L IC $_{50}$ = 2.2 nM cat B IC $_{50}$ >1000 nM selective cat L inhibitor	reversible	342
14	aldehyde	G S N CHO	cat L IC $_{50}$ = 5.3 nM cat B IC $_{50}$ = 530 nM selective cat L inhibitor	reversible	342
15	pyridoxal propionate aldehyde	HO CHO OH	cat B 70% inh. at 10 <sup>-5</sup> M	possibly reversible	343

## Table 2 (Continued)

	Chemical Class	Structure	Activity	Mode of inhibition	Ref.
16	pyridoxal propionate aldehyde	$B_{ZO_2C}$ $HO$ $HO$ $CO_2Et$	cat K 60% inh.at 10 <sup>-6</sup> M 40% inh at 10 <sup>-7</sup> M selective cat K inhibitor	possibly reversible	343
17	aldehyde - hydroxamic acid combination	HO, N, CHO	cat L IC <sub>50</sub> = 15 nM MMPI IC <sub>50</sub> = 25 nM dual MMP and cat L inhibitor	possibly reversible	344
18	aldehyde - hydroxamic acid combination		cat L IC <sub>50</sub> = 23 nM MMPI IC <sub>50</sub> = 47 nM dual MMP and cat L inhibitor	possibly reversible	344
19	aldehyde - hydroxamic acid combination		cat L IC <sub>50</sub> = 7 nM MMPI IC <sub>50</sub> = 1400 nM dual MMP and cat L inhibitor	possibly reversible	344
20	aldehyde - hydroxamic acid combination	но н но	cat L IC <sub>50</sub> = 4300 nM MMPI IC <sub>50</sub> = 12 nM loss of cat L potency	possibly reversible	344
21	dipeptidyl ketone		cat K Ki <sub>app</sub> = 8.0 nM potent cat K inhibitor	irreversible	345
22	dipeptidyl ketone		cat K Ki <sub>app</sub> = 150 nM	not known	345
23	mercapto methyl ketone		cruzipain Ki = 1.1 nM cat B Ki = 1700 nM cat L Ki = 144 nM selective cruzipain inhibitor	slow binding moderately time dependent	346
24	cyclic ketone		cat K Ki app = 140 nM	reversible competitive	347
25	cyclic ketone		cat K Ki app = 2.3 nM cat L Ki app = 39 nM cat S Ki app = 90 nM selective cat K inhibitor	reversible competitive	347
26	cyclic ketone peptidomimetic		cat K Ki <sub>app</sub> = 0.5 nM cat B Ki <sub>app</sub> > 1000 nM cat L Ki <sub>app</sub> > 1000 nM selective cat K inhibitor	transition state analog	348
27	azepanone analogs		cat K Ki = $0.16 \text{ nM}$ cat L Ki = $2.2 \text{ nM}$ cat S Ki = $4.0 \text{ nM}$ selective cat K inhibitor	reversible	96, 349
28	non peptidyl nitrile		cat K and L IC <sub>50</sub> = 50 and 80 nM respectively	reversible time dependent	350

## Table 2 (Continued)

	Chemical Class	Structure	Activity	Mode of inhibition	Ref.
29	non peptidyl nitrile		cat K and L IC <sub>50</sub> = 5 and 6 nM respectively	reversible time dependent	350
30	dipeptidyl nitrile		cat B IC 50 = $6.8 \text{ nM}$ cat L IC 50 = $554 \text{ nM}$ cat S IC 50 = $937 \text{ nM}$ selective cat B inhibitor	reversible	351
31	E 64 analog	S isomer $MeO \longrightarrow N H \longrightarrow N H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H$	cat B $k_2$ /Ki =1.5x10 <sup>6</sup> M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> cat L $k_2$ /Ki =1.2x10 <sup>3</sup> M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> selective cat B inhibitor	irreversible	352
32	E 64 analog		cat L 63 % inh.at 100 nM cat K and S active at 10 <sup>-5</sup> M selective cat L inhibitor	irreversible	341, 353
33	β lactams oxapenam		cat K IC 50 = 60 nM cat S IC 50 = 79 nM cat L IC 50 = 79 nM cat B IC 50 = 693 nM non selective	irreversible	358
34	β lactams oxapenam		cat K IC 50 = $5 \text{ nM}$ cat S IC 50 = $77 \text{ nM}$ cat L IC 50 = $4 \text{ nM}$ cat B IC 50 = $12200 \text{ nM}$ cat K and L selective	reversible	357
35	$\beta$ lactams penam		cat K IC 50 = $0.5 \text{ nM}$ cat S IC 50 = $10 \text{ nM}$ cat L IC 50 = $1.4 \text{ nM}$ cat B IC 50 = $350 \text{ nM}$ cat K and L selective	slowly reversible	359
36	β lactams monobactam		cat K IC 50 = 14 nM cat L IC 50 = 110 nM cat S IC 50 =360 nM selective cat K inhibitor	reversible	360,361
37	β lactams monobactam		cat S Ki = 1 nM cat K Ki = 700 nM cat L Ki = 195 nM cat B Ki = 820 nM selective cat S inhibitor	reversible	360,361
38	vinyl sulfones		cat S $k_2/Ki = 2.6 \times 10^7 M^{-1} s^{-1}$ cat B $k_2/Ki = 4.3 \times 10^6 M^{-1} s^{-1}$ cat K $k_2/Ki = 7.7 \times 10^5 M^{-1} s^{-1}$ cat L $k_2/Ki = 3.9 \times 10^5 M^{-1} s^{-1}$ potent, non-selective inhibitor	irreversible	362, 363
39	vinyl sulfones		cruzipain k <sub>2</sub> /Ki = 6.5 x10 <sup>6</sup> M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> P.falciparum IC <sub>50</sub> = 5 nM potent cruzipain inhibitor	irreversible	362, 363

cathepsin B inhibitor derivative contained a Gly-Gly-Leu peptide in the P4–P2 position and a Leu-Pro-OH in the P1'–P2' position (Table 2; example 31).<sup>352</sup> A similar selective and potent cathepsin L inhibitor was obtained by introducing a Phe-dimethylamide moiety into the P2 residue (Table 2; example 32). This compound was effective in reducing tumor-induced hypercalcemia in mice.  $^{341,353}$ 

Peptidyl epoxides with a tyrosine and biotin moieties allowing iodination and streptavidin-based detection proved very valuable as functional proteomics tools.<sup>354,355</sup>

## 4.7. $\beta$ -Lactams

 $\beta$ -Lactams are well-known as antibiotics with penicillin as its first and most known example.356 Their common feature is a core  $\beta$ -lactam ring. Because resistance to  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics among target pathogens developed early in the history, large numbers of  $\beta$ -lactam derivatives have been synthesized. The development of  $\beta$ -lactams as cysteine protease inhibitors is, however, very recent. Single ring as well as a bicyclic ring  $\beta$ -lactam moieties have been evaluated as inhibitors of cysteine proteases. The  $\beta$ -lactam moiety serves as thiol reactive species and is linked with nonpeptidyl or amino acid or peptide portions targeting binding site pockets of relevant cathepsins. 2-Substituted oxapenams employing a nonpeptidyl aromatic or alkyl moiety as subsite motif displayed surprisingly potent inhibitory efficacy in the mid-nanomolar range (Table 2; example 33). As expected, lacking a specific targeting moiety, these compounds were not selective. The mode of inhibition was time dependent and no recovery of enzymatic activity was observed. On the other hand, the incorporation of amino acid or peptidyl moieties as targeting sequence for individual proteases at the other side of the ring resulted in a significant enhancement of the potency and specificity of the compounds. IC50 values in the nanomolar range were observed and the selectivity of the compounds was improved (Table 2; example 34). The replacement of the oxygen in the oxapenam ring by sulfur further improved the potency (Table 2; example 35). Examples 34 and 35 show clear selectivity for cathepsins K and L over cathepsins B and S.<sup>357–359</sup>

Monobactams revealed a reversible mode of inhibition. Specificity knowledge based modifications of P and P' positions in peptidyl monobactams led to the development of more selective cathepsin inhibitors. Selective cathepsin K inhibitors contained heterocyclic and aromatic rings targeting the S' binding sites (Table 2; example 36), while a hydrophobic cyclohexane moiety targeting the S2 pocket produced cathepsin S specific inhibitors (Table 2; example 37).<sup>360,361</sup>

## 4.8. Vinyl Sulfones

Peptidyl vinyl sulfone inhibitors are remarkably potent irreversible inhibitors of cathepsins. A secondorder rate constant up to  $26 \times 10^6$  M<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> for cathepsin S has been described.<sup>111,362</sup> They have been shown to be effective in mice arthritis models by significantly reducing inflammation as well as bone and cartilage erosion (Table 2; example 38).<sup>110</sup> However, due to the irreversible mode of action, vinyl sulfone inhibitors are unlikely to be developed as therapeutic drugs for chronic diseases such as osteoporosis. On the other hand, their high potency against various parasitic cysteine proteases makes them ideal drug candidates for the treatment of acute and chronic infections. Of particular value was the observation that selected vinyl sulfones were completely tolerated in mice during a 45-day course of therapeutic regimen of 100 mg/kg/day.<sup>363</sup> Example 39 (Table 2) was demonstrated to cure *T. cruzi* infections in a mouse model<sup>364</sup> and preparations for future human clinical trial for Chagas' disease are in progress.<sup>365</sup> Structural analysis of the cruzipain– inhibitor complex revealed a covalent Michael adduct with the active site cysteine residue and strong hydrogen bonding interactions in the S1' subsite.<sup>366</sup> The same compound was also orally effective in a mouse model of malaria.<sup>367,368</sup>

## 5. Conclusions

Within the past decade, the view about papain-like cysteine proteases has shifted from a small number of house-keeping enzymes of little if any diagnostic and therapeutic value to a large protease family of highly diversified and specific functions. The number of known human cathepsins quadrupled within this time period to a total number of 11. The identification of cell-type and tissue specific cathepsins allowed the discovery of specific functions in tissue remodeling and antigen presentation. The generation of cathepsin-deficient mouse strains revealed novel and specific functions also among ubiquitously expressed proteases such as cathepsins L and B. For example, cathepsin L is required in such diverse physiological processes such as normal development of hair follicles and skin epidermis, 369,370 for cardiac morphology and function,<sup>371</sup> as well as for the positive T-cell selection in thymus.<sup>158,372</sup> On the other hand, cathepsin B appears to be necessary for trypsinogen activation in the pancreas<sup>373</sup> and in the regulation of apoptosis of hepatocytes.374,375 Cathepsin K-deficient mice confirmed the malfunction of osteoclastic bone resorption<sup>93</sup> initially observed in the human autosomal recessive bone sclerosing disorder, pycnodysostosis, the human form of cathepsin K deficiency.<sup>77</sup> Cathepsin S-deficient mice supported the role of this protease in antigen presentation but indicated at the same time that other related cathepsins may replace this activity in a cell-type specific manner.<sup>154,155</sup> Finally, cathepsin C-deficient mice revealed the essential role of cathepsin C in granzyme A and B activation. It is expected that null mice for the remaining cathepsins (cathepsins H, F, O, W, and X) will follow suite in nearby future and reveal specific functions of these papain-like cysteine proteases. The elucidation of the physiological functions of human cathepsins has opened novel therapeutic windows to treat major human systemic ailments such as excessive bone and cartilage loss in osteoporosis and arthritis or immunologically related diseases such as asthma. Major pharmaceutical efforts are presently underway to design and evaluate highly selective cathepsin K and S inhibitors for the treatment of osteoporosis, rheumatoid arthritis, and asthma. It remains to be seen whether these inhibitors will fulfill the expectations in terms of efficacy and selectivity. A major problem in protease inhibitor design is sufficient selectivity in the light of our still limited knowledge about the specificity of all human cathepsins and their physiological functions.

Equally important is the expanding knowledge about papain-like cysteine proteases expressed in major human and domestic animal disease-causing parasites. Parasite-induced diseases affect more than half of humankind and for various socioeconomic reasons have not obtained the attention of the major life-style related diseases in the western world. Cysteine proteases in those parasites have been demonstrated to be essential for the life cycles and the virulence of the parasites. Very promising preliminary data with cysteine protease inhibitors indicate that the inhibition of papain-like proteases might be of highly beneficial value for the treatment of pandemic diseases such as malaria, Chagas' and sleeping disease and various other parasitic infections.

#### 6. Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the NIH Grant AR46182 and 48669, by a Biomedical Science grant from the Arthritis Foundation, and a postdoctoral scholarship from the Region Centre (France).

#### 7. References

- Wiederanders, B. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **2000**, *477*, 261.
   Schilling, K.; Pietschmann, S.; Fehn, M.; Wenz, I.; Wiederanders, D. Bi, *J. Cl.* **2001**, *200*, 257 B. Biol. Chem. 2001, 382, 859.
- (3)Yamamoto, Y.; Watabe, S.; Kageyama, T.; Takahashi, S. Y. Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol. 1999, 42, 167.
- (4) Chapman, R. L.; Kane, S. E.; Erickson, A. H. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 8808
- (5) Nissler, K.; Kreusch, S.; Rommerskirch, W.; Strubel, W.; Weber, E.; Wiederanders, B. Biol. Chem. 1998, 379, 219.
- (6) Fox, T. E.; de Miguel, J. S.; Storer, A. C. Biochemistry 1992, 31, 12571
- (7) Carmona, E.: Dufour, E.: Plouffe, C.: Takebe, S.: Mason, P.: Mort, Guo, Y. L.; Kurz, U.; Schultz, J. E.; Lim, C. C.; Wiederanders,
- (a) Guo, T. L., Nuiz, C., Schultz, J. E.; Lim, C. C.; Wiederanders, B.; Schilling, K. *FEBS Lett.* **2000**, *469*, 203.
  (9) Billington, C. J.; Mason, P.; Magny, M. C.; Mort, J. S. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2000**, *276*, 924.
- (10) Guay, J.; Falgueyret, J. P.; Ducret, A.; Percival, M. D.; Mancini, J. A. Eur. J. Biochem. 2000, 267, 6311.
- (11) Maubach, G.; Schilling, K.; Rommerskirch, W.; Wenz, I.; Schultz, J. E.; Weber, E.; Wiederanders, B. Eur. J. Biochem. 1997, 250,
- (12) Kreusch, S.; Fehn, M.; Maubach, G.; Nissler, K.; Rommerskirch, W.; Schilling, K.; Weber, E.; Wenz, I.; Wiederanders, B. Eur. J. Biochem. 2000, 267, 2965.
- (13) McGrath, M. E. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 1999, 28, 181.
- (14) Musil, D.; Zucic, D.; Turk, D.; Engh, R. A.; Mayr, I.; Huber, R.; popovic, T.; Turk, V.; Towatari, T.; Katunuma, N.; Bode, W. ENGL 41001 (2020) EMBO J. **1991**, *10*, 2230.
- (15) Karrer, K. M.; Peiffer, S. L.; DiTomas, M. E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1993, 90, 3063.
- (16)Wex, T.; Levy, B.; Wex, H.; Bromme, D. Biochem. Biophys. Res. *Commun.* **1999**, *259*, 401.
- Wex, T.; Levy, B.; Wex, H.; Bromme, D. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. (17)2000, 477, 271.
- (18) Polgar, L.; Halasz, P. Biochem. J. 1982, 207, 1.
- (19) Menard, R.; Storer, A. C. Biol. Chem. Hoppe Seyler 1992, 373,
- (20) Theodorou, L. G.; Lymperopoulos, K.; Bieth, J. G.; Papamichael, E. M. Biochemistry 2001, 40, 3996.
- (21) Schechter, I.; Berger, A. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1967, 27, 157.
- (22) Claus, V.; Jahraus, A.; Tjelle, T.; Berg, T.; Kirschke, H.; Faulstich, H.; Griffiths, G. J. Biol. Chem. **1998**, 273, 9842.
- (23)Linnevers, C.; Smeekens, S. P.; Bromme, D. FEBS Lett. 1997, 405, 253.
- Wex, T.; Buhling, F.; Wex, H.; Gunther, D.; Malfertheiner, P.; (24)Weber, E.; Bromme, D. J. Immunol. 2001, 167, 2172.
- (25) Huete-Perez, J. A.; Engel, J. C.; Brinen, L. S.; Mottram, J. C.; McKerrow, J. H. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 16249.
- (26) Sajid, M.; McKerrow, J. H. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 2002, 120, 1.

- (27) Tanaka, Y.; Tanaka, R.; Himeno, M. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 2000, 23. 805
- (28) Tanaka, Y.; Tanaka, R.; Kawabata, T.; Noguchi, Y.; Himeno, M. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 2000, 128, 39.
- (29) Kirschke, H.; Schmidt, I.; Wiederanders, B. Biochem. J. 1986, *240*, 455.
- (30) Kirschke, H.; Wiederanders, B.; Bromme, D.; Rinne, A. Biochem. J. 1989, 264, 467.
- (31) Barrett, A. J.; Kirschke, H. Methods Enzymol. 1981, 80, 535. (32) Turk, B.; Dolenc, I.; Turk, V.; Bieth, J. G. Biochemistry 1993,
- 32, 375. (33) Caffrey, C. R.; Hansell, E.; Lucas, K. D.; Brinen, L. S.; Alvarez Hernandez, A.; Cheng, J.; Gwaltney, S. L., 2nd; Roush, W. R.; Stierhof, Y. D.; Bogyo, M.; Steverding, D.; McKerrow, J. H. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 2001, 118, 61.
- (34) Eakin, A. E.; Mills, A. A.; Harth, G.; McKerrow, J. H.; Craik, C. S. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 7411.
- (35) Bromme, D.; Okamoto, K. Biol. Chem. Hoppe Seyler 1995, 376, 379.
- (36) Rao, N. V.; Rao, G. V.; Hoidal, J. R. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 10260.
- Santamaria, I.; Velasco, G.; Pendas, A. M.; Fueyo, A.; Lopez-Otin, C. J. Biol. Chem. **1998**, 273, 16816. (37)
- Santamaria, I.; Velasco, G.; Pendas, A. M.; Paz, A.; Lopez-Otin, (38)C. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 13800.
- (39)Velasco, G.; Ferrando, A. A.; Puente, X. S.; Sanchez, L. M.; Lopez-Otin, C. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 27136.
- (40)Wang, B.; Shi, G. P.; Yao, P. M.; Li, Z.; Chapman, H. A.; Bromme, D. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 32000.
- Nagler, D. K.; Zhang, R.; Tam, W.; Sulea, T.; Purisima, E. O.; (41)Menard, R. Biochemistry 1999, 38, 12648.
- Kirschke, H.; Langner, J.; Wiederanders, B.; Ansorge, S.; Bohley, (42)P.; Hanson, H. Acta Biol. Med. Ger. 1977, 36, 185.
- McGuire, M. J.; Lipsky, P. E.; Thiele, D. L. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **1992**, 295, 280. (43)
- Takahashi, T.; Dehdarani, A. H.; Tang, J. J. Biol. Chem. 1988, (44)263, 10952
- (45) Aronson, N. N. J.; Barrett, A. J. *Biochem. J.* **1978**, *171*, 759.
  (46) Takahashi, T.; Dehdarani, A. H.; Yonezawa, S.; Tang, J. *J. Biol.*
- Chem. 1986, 261, 9375.
- (47) Krupa, J. C.; Hasnain, S.; Nagler, D. K.; Menard, R.; Mort, J. S. Biochem. J. 2002, 361, 613.
- (48)Pavlova, A.; Krupa, J. C.; Mort, J. S.; Abrahamson, M.; Bjork, I. FEBS Lett. 2000, 487, 156.
- Quraishi, O.; Nagler, D. K.; Fox, T.; Sivaraman, J.; Cygler, M.; (49)Mort, J. S.; Storer, A. C. Biochemistry 1999, 38, 5017
- Nagler, D. K.; Storer, A. C.; Portaro, F. C.; Carmona, E.; Juliano, (50)L.; Menard, R. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 12608.
- (51) Guncar, G.; Podobnik, M.; Pungercar, J.; Strukelj, B.; Turk, V.; Turk, D. Structure 1998, 6, 51.
- Turk, D.; Janjic, V.; Stern, I.; Podobnik, M.; Lamba, D.; Dahl, S. W.; Lauritzen, C.; Pedersen, J.; Turk, V.; Turk, B. *EMBO J.* (52)(53) Pham, C. T.; Ley, T. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1999, 96,
- 8627
- Tersariol, I. L.; Pimenta, D. C.; Chagas, J. R.; Almeida, P. C. (54)Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res. 2002, 35, 135.
- Almeida, P. C.; Nantes, I. L.; Chagas, J. R.; Rizzi, C. C.; Faljoni-(55)Alario, A.; Carmona, E.; Juliano, L.; Nader, H. B.; Tersariol, I. L. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 944.
- (56) Li, Z.; Hou, W. S.; Bromme, D. Biochemistry 2000, 39, 529.
- (57) Li, Z.; Hou, W. S.; Escalante-Torres, C. R.; Gelb, B. D.; Bromme, D. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 28669.
- Lima, A. P.; Almeida, P. C.; Tersariol, I. L.; Schmitz, V.; Schmaier, A. H.; Juliano, L.; Hirata, I. Y.; Muller-Esterl, W.; Chagas, J. R.; Scharfstein, J. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2002**, *277*, 5875. (58)
- (59) Brömme, D.; Li, Z.; Barnes, M.; Mehler, E. Biochemistry 1999, 38, 2377
- (60) Drake, F. H.; Dodds, R. A.; James, I. E.; Connor, J. R.; Debouck, C.; Richardson, S.; Lee-Rykaczewski, E.; Coleman, L.; Rieman, D.; Barthlow, R.; Hastings, G.; Gowen, M. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1996**, 271. 12511.
- (61) Brown, J.; Matutes, E.; Singleton, A.; Price, C.; Molgaard, H.; Buttle, D.; Enver, T. Leukemia 1998, 12, 1771.
- Santamaria, I.; Velasco, G.; M., C.; Fueyo, A.; Campo, E.; Lopez-(62)Otin, C. Cancer Res. 1998, 58, 1624.
- Shi, G. P.; Webb, A. C.; Foster, K. E.; Knoll, J. H.; Lemere, C. (63)A.; Munger, J. S.; Chapman, H. A. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 11530.
- (64) Sukhova, G. K.; Shi, G. P.; Simon, D. I.; Chapman, H. A.; Libby, P. J. Clin. Invest. 1998, 102, 576.
- (65) Riese, R. J.; Mitchell, R. N.; Villadangos, J. A.; Shi, G. P.; Palmer, J. T.; Karp, E. R.; De Sanctis, G. T.; Ploegh, H. L.; Chapman, H. A. J. Clin. Invest. 1998, 101, 2351.
- (66) Riese, R. J.; Wolf, P.; Bromme, D.; Natkin, L. R.; Villadangos, J. A.; Ploegh, H. L.; Chapman, H. A. Immunity 1996, 4, 357.
- Brömme, D.; Okamoto, K.; Wang, B. B.; Biroc, S. J. Biol. Chem. (67)1996, 271, 2126.

- (68) Dodds, R. A.; Connor, J. R.; Drake, F.; Feild, J.; Gowen, M. J. *Bone Miner. Res.* **1998**, *13*, 673. (69) Dodds, R. A.; Connor, J. R.; Drake, F. H.; Gowen, M. *Arthritis*
- Rheum. 1999, 42, 1588.
- Hou, W.-S.; Brömme, D.; Zhao, Y.; Mehler, E.; Dushey, C.; Weinstein, H.; Miranda, C. S.; Fraga, C.; Greig, F.; Carey, J.; Rimoin, D. L.; Desnick, R. J.; Gelb, B. D. *J Clin Invest.* **1999**, (70)103. 731.
- (71) Hou, W.-S.; Li, W.; Keyszer, G.; Weber, E.; Levy, R.; Klein, M. J.; Gravallese, E. M.; Goldring, S. R.; Bromme, D. Arthritis Rheum. 2002, 46, 663.
- (72) Hummel, K. M.; Petrow, P. K.; Franz, J. K.; Muller-Ladner, U.; Aicher, W. K.; Gay, R. E.; Brömme, D.; Gay, S. J. Rheumatol. **1998**, 25, 1887.
- (73) Bühling, F.; Gerber, A.; Häckel, C.; Krüger, S.; Köhnlein, T.; Brömme, D.; Reinhold: D.; Ansorge, F.; Welte, T. *Am. J. Respir.* Crit. Care Med. 1999, 20, 612.
- (74) Tepel, C.; Bromme, D.; Herzog, V.; Brix, K. J. Cell Sci. 2000, 113, 4487.
- (75) Haeckel, C.; Krueger, S.; Buehling, F.; Broemme, D.; Franke, K.; Schuetze, A.; Roese, I.; Roessner, A. Dev. Dyn. 1999, 216, 89
- (76) Adachi, W.; Kawamoto, S.; Ohno, I.; Nishida, K.; Kinoshita, S.; Matsubara, K.; Okubo, K. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vision Sci. 1998, 39. 1789.
- Gelb, B. D.; Shi, G. P.; Chapman, H. A.; Desnick, R. J. Science (77)1996, 273, 1236
- (78) Toomes, C.; J., J.; Wood, A. J.; Wu, C. L.; McCormick, D.; Lench, N.; Hewitt, C.; Moynihan, L.; Roberts, E.; Woods, C. G.; Markham, A.; Wong, M.; Widmer, R.; Ghaffar, K. A.; Pemberton, M.; Hussein, I. R.; Temtamy, S. A.; R., D.; Read, A. P.; Sloan, P.; Dixon, M. J.; Thakker, N. S. *Nat. Genet.* **1999**, *23*, 421.
- (79) Chapman, H. A.; Riese, R. J.; Shi, G. P. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 1997, *59*. 63.
- (80)Yamashita, D. S.; Dodds, R. A. Curr. Pharm. Des. 2000, 6, 1. (81) Engel, J. C.; Doyle, P. S.; Hsieh, I.; McKerrow, J. H. J. Exp. Med.
- 1998, 188, 725.
- Gowen, M.; mery, J. G.; Kumar, S. Emerging Drugs 2000, 5, 1.
- (83) Mahavni, V.; Sood, A. K. Curr. Opin. Oncol. 2001, 13, 384.
- (84) Miller, P. D.; Woodson, G.; Licata, A. A.; Ettinger, M. P.; Mako, B.; Smith, M. E.; Wang, L.; Yates, S. J.; Melton, M. E.; Palmisano, J. J. *Clin. Ther.* **2000**, *22*, 1433.
- (85) Raisz, L. G. *Clin. Chem.* **1999**, *45*, 1353.
  (86) Garnero, P.; Borel, O.; Byrjalsen, I.; Ferreras, M.; Drake, F. H.; McQueney, M. S.; Foged, N. T.; Delmas, P. D.; Delaisse, J. M. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1998**, *273*, 32347.
- (87) Kafienah, W.; Bromme, D.; Buttle, D. J.; Croucher, L. J.; Hollander, A. P. Biochem. J. 1998, 331, 727.
- Mallya, S. K.; Mookhtiar, K. A.; Van Wart, H. E. J. Protein Chem. (88) 1992, 11, 99.
- (89) Atley, L. M.; Mort, J. S.; Lalumiere, M.; Eyre, D. R. Bone 2000, 26, 241.
- (90)Sassi, M. L.; Eriksen, H.; Risteli, L.; Niemi, S.; Mansell, J.; Gowen, M.; Risteli, J. Bone 2000, 26, 367.
- (91) Bossard, M. J.; Tomaszek, T. T.; Thompson, S. K.; Amegadzies, B. Y.; Hannings, C. R.; Jones, C.; Kurdyla, J. T.; McNulty, D. E.; Drake, F. H.; Gowen, M.; Levy, M. A. J. Biol. Chem. 1996, 271, 12517.
- (92) Everts, V.; Aronson, D. C.; Beertsen, W. Calcif. Tissue Int. 1985, 37. 25.
- Saftig, P.; Wehmeyer, O.; Hunziker, E.; Jones, S.; Boyde, A.; (93)Rommerskirch, W.; von Figura, K. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **1998**, *95*, 13453
- (94) Kiviranta, R.; Morko, J.; Uusitalo, H.; Aro, H. T.; Vuorio, E.; Rantakokko, J. J. Bone Miner. Res. 2001, 16, 1444.
- (95)Xia, L.; Kilb, J.; Wex, H.; Lipyansky, A.; Breuil, V.; Stein, L.; Palmer, J. T.; Dempster, D. W.; Brömme, D. Biol. Chem. 1999, *380*. 679.
- Stroup, G. B.; Lark, M. W.; Veber, D. F.; Bhattacharyya, A.; Blake, S.; Dare, L. C.; Erhard, K. F.; Hoffman, S. J.; James, I. (96)E.; Marquis, R. W.; Ru, Y.; Vasko-Moser, J. A.; Smith, B. R.; Tomaszek, T.; Gowen, M. J. Bone Miner. Res. **2001**, *16*, 1739.
- (97) Thompson, S. K.; Halbert, S. M.; Bossard, M. J.; Tomaszek, T. A.; Levy, M. A.; Zhao, B.; Smith, W. W.; Abdel-Meguid, S. S.; Janson, C. A.; D'Alessio, K. J.; McQueney, M. S.; Amegadzie, B. Y.; Hanning, C. R.; DesJarlais, R. L.; Briand, J.; Sarkar, S. K.; Huddleston, M. J.; Ijames, C. F.; Carr, S. A.; Garnes, K. T.; Shu, A.; Heys, J. R.; Bradbeer, J.; Zembryski, D.; Lee-Rykaczewski, L. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **1997**, *94*, 14249.
- (98) James, I. E.; Marquis, R. W.; Blake, S. M.; Hwang, S. M.; Gress, C. J.; Ru, Y.; Zembryki, D.; Yamashita, D. S.; McQueney, M. S.; Tomaszek, T. A.; Oh, H. J.; Gowen, M.; Veber, D. F.; Lark, M.
- W. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 11507.
   (99) Yamashita, D. S.; Smith, W. W.; Zhao, B.; Janson, C. A.; Tomaszek, T. A.; Bossard, M. J.; Levy, M. A.; Oh, H.-J.; Carr, T. J.; Thomson, S. K.; Ijames, C. F.; McQueney, M.; D'Alessio, K. J.; Amegadzie, B. Y.; Hanning, C. R.; Abdel-Meguid, S.; Desjar-lais, R. L.; Gleason, J. G.; Veber, D. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1997**, 119, 11351.

- (100) Kempson, G. E.; Muir, H.; Pollard, C.; Tuke, M. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1973, 297, 456.
- (101) Kempson, G. E. Dynamics of Connective Tissue Macromolecules; 1976, p 277.
- (102)
- I976, p 277.
  Vincenti, M. P.; Coon, C. I.; Mengshol, J. A.; Yocum, S.; Mitchell, P.; Brinckerhoff, C. E. *Biochem. J.* 1998, *331*, 341.
  Vincenti, M. P.; White, L. A.; Schroen, D. J.; Benbow, U.; Brinckerhoff, C. E. *Crit. Rev. Eukaryot. Gene Expr.* 1996, *6*, 391. (103)
- (104) Isomaki, P.; Punnone, J. Ann. Med. 1997, 29, 499.
  (105) Tortorella, M. D.; Burn, T. C.; Pratta, M. A.; Abbaszade, I.; Hollis, J. M.; Liu, R.; Rosenfeld, S. A.; Copeland, R. A.; Decicco, C. P.; Wynn, R.; Rockwell, A.; Yang, F.; Duke, J. L.; Scloomon, K.; George, H.; Bruckner, R.; Nagase, H.; Itoh, Y.; Ellis, D. M.; Ross, H.; Wiswall, B. H.; Murphy, K.; Hillman, M. C. J.; Hollis, G. F.; Newton, R. C., et al. *Science* **1999**, *284*, 1664.
- (106) Arner, E. C.; Hughes, C. E.; Decicco, C. P.; Caterson, B.; Tortorella, M. D. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 1998, 6, 214.
  (107) Lark, M. W.; Bayne, E. K.; Flanagan, J.; Harper, C. F.; Hoerrner,
- L. A.; Hutchinson, N. I.; Singer, I. I.; Donatelli, S. A.; Weidner, J. R.; Williams, H. R.; Mumford, R. A.; Lohmander, L. S. J. Clin. Invest. 1997, 100, 93.
- (108) Esser, R. E.; Angelo, R. A.; Murphey, M. D.; Watts, L. M.; Thornburg, L. P.; Palmer, J. T.; Talhouk, J. W.; Smith, R. E. *Arthritis Rheum.* **1994**, *37*, 236.
- (109) Esser, R. E.; Watts, L. M.; Angelo, R. A.; Thornburg, L. P.; Prior, J. J.; Palmer, J. T. J. Rheumatol. 1993, 20, 1176.
- (110) Biroc, S. L.; Gay, S.; Hummel, K.; Magill, C.; Palmer, J. T.; Spencer, D. R.; Sa, S.; Klaus, J. L.; Michel, B. A.; Rasnick, D.; Gay, R. E. Arthritis Rheum. 2001, 44, 703.
- (111) Palmer, J. T.; Rasnick, D.; Klaus, J. L.; Brömme, D. J. Med. Chem. 1995, 38, 3193.
- (112) Trabandt, A.; Aicher, W. K.; Gay, R. E.; Sukhatme, V. P.; Nilson-Hamilton, M.; Hamilton, R. T.; McGhee, J. R.; Fassbender, H. G.; Gay, S. *Matrix* **1990**, *10*, 349.
- (113) Trabandt, A.; Gay, R. E.; Fassbender, H.-G.; Gay, S. Arthritis Rheum. 1991, 34, 1444.
- (114) Hou, W. S.; Li, Z.; Gordon, R. E.; Chan, K.; Klein, M. J.; Levy R.; Keysser, M.; Keyszer, G.; Bromme, D. Am. J. Pathol. 2001, 159, 2167.
- (115) Lemaire, R.; Huet, G.; Zerimech, F.; Grard, G.; Fontaine, C.; Duquesnoy, B.; Flipo, R. M. *Br. J. Rheumatol.* **1997**, *36*, 735. (116) Kostoulas, G.; Lang, A.; Trueb, B.; Baici, A. *FEBS Lett.* **1997**,
- *41*, 453.
- (117) Konttinen, Y. T.; Mandelin, J.; Li, T. F.; Salo, J.; Lassus, J.; Liljestrom, M.; Hukkanen, M.; Takagi, M.; Virtanen, I.; Santavirta, S. Arthritis Rheum. 2002, 46, 953.
- (118) Nguyen, Q.; Liu, J.; Roughley, P. J.; Mort, J. S. Biochem. J. 1991, 278. 143.
- (119)Nguyen, Q.; Mort, J. S.; Roughley, P. J. Biochem. J. 1990, 266, 569
- (120)
- Wilkins, R. J.; Hall, A. C. *J. Cell Physiol.* **1995**, *164*, 474. Gravallese, E. M.; Harada, Y.; Wang, J. T.; Gorn, A. H.; Thornhill, T. S.; Goldring, S. R. *Am. J. Pathol.* **1998**, *152*, 943. Pettit, A. R.; Ji, H.; von Stechow, D.; Muller, R.; Goldring, S. R.; Chei W. Breiter, G.; Correlleure, E. M. Arr, *L. Bethel* **1998**, *152*, 943. (121)
- (122)Choi, Y.; Benoist, C.; Gravallese, E. M. Am. J. Pathol. 2001, 159, 1689
- Invest. 1999, 104, 1191
- van der Stappen, J. W.; Williams, A. C.; Maciewicz, R. A.; Paraskeva, C. Int. J. Cancer **1996**, 67, 547. (125)
- (126) Dalet-Fumeron, V.; Guinec, N.; Pagano, M. FEBS Lett. 1993, 332, 251.
- (127)Kobayashi, H.; Moniwa, N.; Sugimura, M.; Shinohara, H.; Ohi, H.; Terao, T. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1993**, *1178*, 55. (128) Kobayashi, H.; Schmitt, M.; Goretzki, L.; Chucholowski, N.;
- Calvete, J.; Kramer, M.; Gunzler, W. A.; Janicke, F.; Graeff, H. J. Biol. Chem. 1991, 266, 5147.
- (129) Goretzki, L.; Schmitt, M.; Mann, K.; Calvete, J.; Chucholowski, N.; Kramer, M.; Gunzler, W. A.; Janicke, F.; Graeff, H. FEBS Lett. 1992, 297, 112.
- (130) Himelstein, B. P.; Canete-Soler, R.; Bernhard, E. J.; Muschel,
- R. J. *J. Cell Sci.* **1994**, *107*, 477. Visscher, D. W.; Sloane, B. F.; Sameni, M.; Babiarz, J. W.; Jacobson, J.; Crissman, J. D. *Mod. Pathol.* **1994**, *7*, 76. (131)
- (132) Emmert-Buck, M. R.; Roth, M. J.; Zhuang, Z.; Campo, E.; Rozhin, J.; Sloane, B. F.; Liotta, L. A.; Stetler-Stevenson, W. G. Am. J. Pathol. 1994, 145, 1285
- (133) Sinha, A. A.; Gleason, D. F.; Staley, N. A.; Wilson, M. J.; Sameni, M.; Sloane, B. F. Anat. Rec. 1995, 241, 353.
- Sinha, A. A.; Gleason, D. F.; Deleon, O. F.; Wilson, M. J.; Sloane, (134)B. F. Anat. Rec. 1993, 235, 233.
- (135) Chauhan, S. S.; Goldstein, L. J.; Gottesman, M. M. Cancer Res. **1991**, *51*, 1478. Campo, E.; Munoz, J.; Miquel, R.; Palacin, A.; Cardesa, A.;
- (136)Sloane, B. F.; Emmert-Buck, M. R. Am. J. Pathol. 1994, 145, 301.

- (137) Sameni, M.; Elliott, E.; Ziegler, G.; Fortgens, P. H.; Dennison, C.; Sloane, B. F. *Pathol. Oncol. Res.* **1995**, *1*, 43. (138) Mai, J.; Finley, R. L., Jr.; Waisman, D. M.; Sloane, B. F. J. Biol.
- Chem. 2000, 275, 12806.
- (139)Mai, J.; Waisman, D. M.; Sloane, B. F. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2000, 1477, 215.
- (140) Stahl, A.; Mueller, B. M. J. Cell Biol. 1995, 129, 335.
  (141) Kos, J.; Werle, B.; Lah, T.; Brunner, N. 2000, 15, 84.
- (142) Strojnik, T.; Zidanik, B.; Kos, J.; Lah, T. T. Neurosurgery 2001, *48*. 598
- (143) Koblinski, J. E.; Ahram, M.; Sloane, B. F. Clin. Chim. Acta 2000, *291*, 113.
- (144) Herszenyi, L.; Plebani, M.; Carraro, P.; De Paoli, M.; Roveroni, G.; Cardin, R.; Foschia, F.; Tulassay, Z.; Naccarato, R.; Farinati, F. *Clin. Chim. Acta* **2000**, *291*, 171.
- (145) Lah, T. T.; Strojnik, T.; Levicar, N.; Bervar, A.; Zajc, I.; Pilkington, G.; Kos, J. **2000**, *15*, 90.
- (146) Medd, P. G.; Chain, B. M. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 2000, 11, 203.
- (147) Villadangos, J. A.; Bryant, R. A.; Deussing, J.; Driessen, C.; Lennon-Dumenil, A. M.; Riese, R. J.; Roth, W.; Saftig, P.; Shi, G. P.; Chapman, H. A.; Peters, C.; Ploegh, H. L. Immunol. Rev. 1999, 172, 109.
- (148) Villadangos, J. A.; Ploegh, H. L. Immunity 2000, 12, 233
- (149) Deussing, J.; Roth, W.; Saftig, P.; Peters, C.; Ploegh, H. L.; Villadangos, J. A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1998, 95, 4516.
- (150) Antoniou, A. N.; Blackwood, S. L.; Mazzeo, D.; Watts, C. Immunity 2000, 12, 391.
- (151) Manoury, B.; Hewitt, E. W.; Morrice, N.; Dando, P. M.; Barrett, A. J.; Watts, C. Nature **1998**, *396*, 695.
- (152) Riese, R. J.; Chapman, H. A. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 2000, 12, 107.
- (153) Newcomb, J. R.; Cresswell, P. J. Immunol. 1993, 151, 4153.
- Shi, G. P.; Villadangos, J. A.; Dranoff, G.; Small, C.; Gu, L.; Haley, K. J.; Riese, R.; Ploegh, H. L.; Chapman, H. A. *Immunity* (154)1999, *10*, 197
- (155) Nakagawa, T. Y.; Brissette, W. H.; Lira, P. D.; Griffiths, R. J.; Petrushova, N.; Stock, J.; McNeish, J. D.; Eastman, S. E.; Howard, E. D.; Clarke, S. R.; Rosloniec, E. F.; Elliott, E. A.; Rudensky, A. Y. *Immunity* **1999**, *10*, 207.
- (156) Saegusa, K.; Ishimaru, N.; Yanagi, K.; Arakaki, R.; Ogawa, K.; Saito, I.; Katunuma, N.; Hayashi, Y. J. Clin. Invest. 2002, 110, 361
- (157) Shi, G. P.; Bryant, R. A.; Riese, R.; Verhelst, S.; Driessen, C.; Li, Z.; Bromme, D.; Ploegh, H. L.; Chapman, H. A. J. Exp. Med. 2000, 191, 1177.
- (158) Nakagawa, T.; Roth, W.; Wong, P.; Nelson, A.; Farr, A.; Deussing, J.; Villadangos, J. A.; Ploegh, H.; Peters, C.; Rudensky, A. Y. *Science* **1998**, *280*, 450.
- (159) Itoh, R.; Kawamoto, S.; Adachi, W.; Kinoshita, S.; Okubo, K. DNA Res. 1999, 6, 137.

- (160) Thomas, W. R.; Smith, W. Allergy 1998, 53, 821.
  (161) Tovey, E. R.; Baldo, B. A. J. Med. Entomol. 1990, 27, 368.
  (162) Shakib, F.; Schulz, O.; Sewell, H. Immunol. Today 1998, 19, 313. (163) Gough, L.; Schulz, O.; Sewell, H. F.; Shakib, F. J. Exp. Med.
- **1999**, *190*, 1897 (164) Topham, C. M.; Srinivasan, N.; Thorpe, C. J.; Overington, J. P.; Kalsheker, N. A. *Protein Eng.* **1994**, *7*, 869.
  (165) Greene, W. K.; Cyster, J. G.; Chua, K. Y.; O'Brien, R. M.; Thomas, W. R. *J. Immunol.* **1991**, *147*, 3768.
  (166) Wan, H.; Winton, H. L.; Soeller, C.; Tovey, E. R.; Gruenert, D. C.; Thomason, P. L.; Stouyer, C. A.; Taylor, C. W.; Carred, D.
- C.; Thompson, P. J.; Stewart, G. A.; Taylor, G. W.; Garrod, D. R.; Cannell, M. B.; Robinson, C. J. Clin. Invest. 1999, 104, 123.
  (167) Kalsheker, N. A.; Deam, S.; Chambers, L.; Sreedharan, S.;
- Brocklehurst, K.; Lomas, D. A. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. **1996**, *221*, 59.
- (168) Choi, C. M.; Lerner, E. A. J. Invest. Dermatol. Symp. Proc. 2001, 6, 175.
- (169) Oaks, S. C.; Mitchell, V. S.; Pearson, G. W.; Carpenter, C. C. J.; Eds.; Washington: National Academy Press, 1991.
- (170) Colley, D. G. Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz 2000, 95, 79.
- (171) Penjin, J.; Meda, H. A. Adv. Parasitol. 2001, 49, 71.
  (172) Brooks, D. R.; Hoberg, E. P. Trends Parasitol. 2001, 17, 273.
  (173) Croft, S. L. Parasitology 1997, 114, S3.
  (174) Coombs, G. H.; Mottram, J. C. Parasitology 1997, 114, S61.

- (175) McKerrow, J. H. Int. J. Parasitol. 1999, 29, 833.
- (176) Abath, F. G. Expert Opin. Invest. Drugs 2000, 9, 301.
   (177) Liu, L. X.; Weller, P. F. N. Engl. J. Med. 1996, 334, 1178.
- (178) Urbina, J. A. Curr. Pharm. Des. 2002, 8, 287
- (179) Dalton, J. P.; Mulcahy, G. Vet. Parasitol. 2001, 98, 149.
- (180) McKerrow, J. H. Exp. Parasitol. 1989, 68, 111.
- (181) North, M. J.; Cotter, D. A.; Franek, K. J. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. **1990**, *60*, 153.
- Souza, A. E.; Waugh, S.; Coombs, G. H.; Mottram, J. C. FEBS (182)Lett. 1992, 311, 124.
- (183) Mottram, J. C.; Frame, M. J.; Brooks, D. R.; Tetley, L.; Hutchison, J. E.; Souza, A. E.; Coombs, G. H. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 14285.
- (184) Tort, J.; Brindley, P. J.; Knox, D.; Wolfe, K. H.; Dalton, J. P. Adv. Parasitol. 1999, 43, 161.

- (185) Rosenthal, P. J. Adv. Parasitol. 1999, 43, 105.
- (186) Keene, W. E.; Petitt, M. G.; Allen, S.; McKerrow, J. H. J. Exp. Med. 1986, 163, 536.
- (187) McKerrow, J. H.; Sun, E.; Rosenthal, P. J.; Bouvier, J. Annu. *Rev. Microbiol.* **1993**, *47*, 821. (188) DeCarlo, A. A., Jr.; Windsor, L. J.; Bodden, M. K.; Harber, G.
- J.; Birkedal-Hansen, B.; Birkedal-Hansen, H. J. Dent. Res. 1997, 76. 1260.
- Que, X.; Reed, S. L. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 2000, 13, 196. (189)
- (190) Del Nery, E.; Juliano, M. A.; Lima, A. P.; Scharfstein, J.; Juliano, L. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 25713.
- (191) Brindley, P. J.; Kalinna, B. H.; Dalton, J. P.; Day, S. R.; Wong, J. Y.; Smythe, M. L.; McManus, D. P. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. **1997**, *89*, 1.
- (192) Rosenthal, P. J. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 1998, 4, 49.
- (193) Caffrey, C. R.; Scory, S.; Steverding, D. Curr. Drug Targets 2000, 1. 155.
- (194)Salmon, B. L.; Oksman, A.; Goldberg, D. E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2001, 98, 271.

- (195) Bannister, L. H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2001, 98, 383.
  (196) Winstanley, P. A. Parasitol. Today 2000, 16, 146.
  (197) Tyas, L.; Moon, R. P.; Loetscher, H.; Dunn, B. M.; Kay, J.; Ridley,
- R. G.; Berry, C. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. **1998**, 436, 407. Rosenthal, P. J.; McKerrow, J. H.; Aikawa, M.; Nagasawa, H.; Leech, J. H. J. Clin. Invest. **1988**, 82, 1560. (198)
- (199) Rosenthal, P. J.; Wollish, W. S.; Palmer, J. T.; Rasnick, D. J. Clin. Invest. 1991, 88, 1467.
- Shenai, B. R.; Sijwali, P. S.; Singh, A.; Rosenthal, P. J. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 29000. (200)
- Sijwali, P. S.; Shenai, B. R.; Gut, J.; Singh, A.; Rosenthal, P. J. *Biochem. J.* **2001**, *360*, 481. (201)
- (202) Rosenthal, P. J.; Nelson, R. G. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1992, *51*, 143.
- (203) Francis, S. E.; Banerjee, R.; Goldberg, D. E. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 14961.
- (204) Rosenthal, P. J.; Sijwali, P. S.; Singh, A.; Shenai, B. R. Curr. Pharm. Des. 2002, 8, 1659.
- (205) Cazzulo, J. J.; Couso, R.; Raimondi, A.; Wernstedt, C.; Hellman, U. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1989, 33, 33.
- (206) Cazzulo, J. J.; Stoka, V.; Turk, V. Biol. Chem. 1997, 378, 1.
- (207) Eakin, A. E.; McGrath, M. E.; McKerrow, J. H.; Fletterick, R. J.; Craik, C. S. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1993, *268*, 6115.
   (208) Murta, A. C.; Persechini, P. M.; Padron Tde, S.; de Souza, W.; Guimaraes, J. A.; Scharfstein, J. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1990, 43. 27.
- (209) Lalmanach, G.; Mayer, R.; Serveau, C.; Scharfstein, J.; Gauthier, F. *Biochem. J.* **1996**, *318*, 395.
  (210) Lima, A. P.; Tessier, D. C.; Thomas, D. Y.; Scharfstein, J.; Storer,
- A. C.; Vernet, T. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* **1994**, *67*, 333. (211) Jose Cazzulo, J.; Stoka, V.; Turk, V. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* **2001**, *7*,
- 1143
- (212) Lima, A. P.; dos Reis, F. C.; Serveau, C.; Lalmanach, G.; Juliano, L.; Menard, R.; Vernet, T.; Thomas, D. Y.; Storer, A. C.; Scharfstein, J. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 2001, 114, 41.
- (213) Ashall, F.; Angliker, H.; Shaw, E. *Biochem. Biophys. Res.* Commun. **1990**, *170*, 923.
- (214) Meirelles, M. N.; Juliano, L.; Carmona, E.; Silva, S. G.; Costa, E. M.; Murta, A. C.; Scharfstein, J. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. **1992**, *52*, 175.
- (215) Harth, G.; Andrews, N.; Mills, A. A.; Engel, J. C.; Smith, R.; McKerrow, J. H. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1993, 58, 17.
- (216) Engel, J. C.; Doyle, P. S.; Palmer, J.; Hsieh, I.; Bainton, D. F.; McKerrow, J. H. J. Cell Sci. 1998, 111, 597
- (217) Scharfstein, J.; Schmitz, V.; Morandi, V.; Capella, M. M.; Lima, A. P.; Morrot, A.; Juliano, L.; Muller-Esterl, W. J. Exp. Med. 2000, 192, 1289.
- (218) McGrath, M. E.; Klaus, J. L.; Barnes, M. G.; Bromme, D. Nat. Struct. Biol. 1997, 4, 105.
- (219)Gillmor, S. A.; Craik, C. S.; Fletterick, R. J. Protein Sci. 1997, *6*. 1603.
- (220) Meldal, M.; Svendsen, I. B.; Juliano, L.; Juliano, M. A.; Nery, E. D.; Scharfstein, J. *J. Pept. Sci.* **1998**, *4*, 83. (221) Harris, J. L.; Backes, B. J.; Leonetti, F.; Mahrus, S.; Ellman, J.
- A.; Craik, C. S. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2000, 97, 7754.
- (222) Alves, L. C.; Judice, W. A.; St Hilaire, P. M.; Meldal, M.; Sanderson, S. J.; Mottram, J. C.; Coombs, G. H.; Juliano, L.; Juliano, M. A. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 2001, 116, 1
- Lecaille, F.; Cotton, J.; McKerrow, J. H.; Ferrer-Di Martino, M.; (223)Boll-Bataille, E.; Gauthier, F.; Lalmanach, G. FEBS Lett. 2001, 507, 362.
- (224) Serveau, C.; Lalmanach, G.; Juliano, M. A.; Scharfstein, J.; Juliano, L.; Gauthier, F. *Biochem. J.* **1996**, *313*, 951. (225) Kristjanson, P. M.; Swallow, B. M.; Rowlands, G. J.; Kruska, R.
- L.; de Leeuw, P. N. Agric. Syst. 1999, 59, 79.
   (226) Mbawa, Z. R.; Gumm, I. D.; Shaw, E.; Lonsdale-Eccles, J. D. Eur. J. Biochem. 1992, 204, 371.
- Authie, E.; Muteti, D. K.; Mbawa, Z. R.; Lonsdale-Eccles, J. D.; (227)Webster, P.; Wells, C. W. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1992, 56, 103.
- (228) Lonsdale-Eccles, J. D.; Grab, D. J. J. Protozool. 1987, 34, 405.

- (229) Authie, E. Parasitol. Today 1994, 10, 360.
- (230) Lalmanach, G.; Boulange, A.; Serveau, C.; Lecaille, F.; Gauthier, F.; Authie, E. *Biol. Chem.* **2002**, in press.
- (231) Martinez, J.; Campetella, O.; Frasch, A. C.; Cazzulo, J. J. *Immunol. Lett.* **1993**, *35*, 191.
  (232) Scharfstein, J.; Rodrigues, M. M.; Alves, C. A.; de Souza, W.; Previato, J. O.; Mendonca-Previato, L. *J. Immunol.* **1983**, *131*, 075 972.

- (233) Scory, S.; Caffrey, C. R.; Stierhof, Y. D.; Ruppel, A.; Steverding, D. Exp. Parasitol. 1999, 91, 327.
  (234) Authie, E.; Boulange, A.; Muteti, D.; Lalmanach, G.; Gauthier, F.; Musoke, A. J. Int. J. Parasitol. 2001, 31, 1429.
  (235) Lecaille, F.; Authie, E.; Moreau, T.; Serveau, C.; Gauthier, F.; Lalmanach, G. Eur. J. Biochem. 2001, 268, 2733.
  (236) Crogl. M.: Thomason, T. N.: Franke, F. D. Am. L. Tran. Med.
- (236) Grogl, M.; Thomason, T. N.; Franke, E. D. Am. J. Trop. Med. *Hyg.* **1992**, *47*, 117. (237) Mottram, J. C.; Brooks, D. R.; Coombs, G. H. *Curr. Opin.*
- Microbiol. 1998, 1, 455. Sakanari, J. A.; Nadler, S. A.; Chan, V. J.; Engel, J. C.; Leptak, (238)
- C.; Bouvier, J. *Exp. Parasitol.* **1997**, *85*, 63.
- (239) Mundodi, V.; Somanna, A.; Farrell, P. J.; Gedamu, L. Gene 2002, 282. 257.
- (240) Selzer, P. M.; Pingel, S.; Hsieh, I.; Ugele, B.; Chan, V. J.; Engel, J. C.; Bogyo, M.; Russell, D. G.; Sakanari, J. A.; McKerrow, J. H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **1999**, *96*, 11015.
- (241) Coombs, G. H. Parasitology 1982, 84, 149.
- (242) Coombs, G. H.; Baxter, J. Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol. 1984, 78, 21.
- (243) Frame, M. J.; Mottram, J. C.; Coombs, G. H. Parasitology 2000, 121, 367.
- (244) Bart, G.; Frame, M. J.; Carter, R.; Coombs, G. H.; Mottram, J. C. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1997, 88, 53.
- (245) Mottram, J. C.; Robertson, C. D.; Coombs, G. H.; Barry, J. D. Mol. Microbiol. 1992, 6, 1925.
- (246) Rafati, S.; Salmanian, A. H.; Hashemi, K.; Schaff, C.; Belli, S.; Fasel, N. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 2001, 113, 35.
- (247) Traub-Cseko, Y. M.; Duboise, M.; Boukai, L. K.; McMahon-Pratt, D. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1993, 57, 101.
- (248) Robertson, C. D.; Coombs, G. H. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1993, 62, 271.
- (249) Bart, G.; Coombs, G. H.; Mottram, J. C. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1995, 73, 271.
- (250) Selzer, P. M.; Chen, X.; Chan, V. J.; Cheng, M.; Kenyon, G. L.; Kuntz, I. D.; Sakanari, J. A.; Cohen, F. E.; McKerrow, J. H. Exp. Parasitol. 1997, 87, 212.
- (251) Chan, V. J.; Selzer, P. M.; McKerrow, J. H.; Sakanari, J. A.
- (251) Chan, V. J., Selzer, F. M., McKerrow, J. H., Sakahari, J. A. Biochem. J. 1999, 340, 113.
   (252) Mottram, J. C.; McCready, B. P.; Brown, K. G.; Grant, K. M. Mol. Microbiol. 1996, 22, 573.
   (253) Alexander, J.; Coombs, G. H.; Mottram, J. C. J. Immunol. 1998,
- 161.6794.
- (254) Sanderson, S. J.; Pollock, K. G.; Hilley, J. D.; Meldal, M.; Hilaire, P. S.; Juliano, M. A.; Juliano, L.; Mottram, J. C.; Coombs, G. H. Biochem. J. 2000, 347, 383.
- (255) St Hilaire, P. M.; Alves, L. C.; Sanderson, S. J.; Mottram, J. C.; Juliano, M. A.; Juliano, L.; Coombs, G. H.; Meldal, M. Chembiochem 2000, 1, 115.
- (256) Alves, L. C.; Melo, R. L.; Cezari, M. H.; Sanderson, S. J.; Mottram, J. C.; Coombs, G. H.; Juliano, L.; Juliano, M. A. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 2001, 117, 137.
- (257) Alves, L. C.; Melo, R. L.; Sanderson, S. J.; Mottram, J. C.; Coombs, G. H.; Caliendo, G.; Santagada, V.; Juliano, L.; Juliano, M. A. Eur. J. Biochem. 2001, 268, 1206.
   (258) Graven, A.; St Hilaire, P. M.; Sanderson, S. J.; Mottram, J. C.;
- Coombs, G. H.; Meldal, M. J. Comb. Chem. 2001, 3, 441.
- (259) Ward, W.; Alvarado, L.; Rawlings, N. D.; Engel, J. C.; Franklin, C.; McKerrow, J. H. Cell 1997, 89, 437.
- (260) Sorvillo, F.; Smith, L.; Kerndt, P.; Ash, L. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2001, 7, 927
- (261) Draper, D.; Donohoe, W.; Mortimer, L.; Heine, R. P. J. Infect. Dis. 1998, 178, 815.
- (262) Arroyo, R.; Alderete, J. F. Infect. Immun. 1989, 57, 2991.
- (263) Neale, K. A.; Alderete, J. F. Infect. Immun. 1990, 58, 157.
   (264) Arroyo, R.; Alderete, J. F. Arch. Med. Res. 1995, 26, 279.
- (265) Dailey, D. C.; Chang, T. H.; Alderete, J. F. Parasitology 1990, *101 Pt 2*, 171.
- (266) Alvarez-Sanchez, M. E.; Avila-Gonzalez, L.; Becerril-Garcia, C.; Fattel-Facenda, L. V.; Ortega-Lopez, J.; Arroyo, R. Microb. Pathog. 2000, 28, 193.
- (267)Provenzano, D.; Alderete, J. F. Infect. Immun. 1995, 63, 3388.
- (268) Mendoza-Lopez, M. R.; Becerril-Garcia, C.; Fattel-Facenda, L. V.; Avila-Gonzalez, L.; Ruiz-Tachiquin, M. E.; Ortega-Lopez, J.; Arroyo, R. Infect. Immun. 2000, 68, 4907.
- (269) Irvine, J. W.; North, M. J.; Coombs, G. H. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. **1997**, 149, 45.
- Yamamoto, A.; Asaga, E.; Nagao, E.; Igarashi, T.; Goto, N. Oral Microbiol. Immunol. 2000, 15, 360. (270)
- (271) Bozner, P.; Demes, P. Arch. Oral Biol. 1991, 36, 765.
   (272) Luaces, A. L.; Barrett, A. J. Biochem. J. 1988, 250, 903.

- (273) Reed, S. L.; Keene, W. E.; McKerrow, J. H. J. Clin. Microbiol. 1989, 27, 2772. (274) Reed, S. L.; Gigli, I. J. Clin. Invest. 1990, 86, 1815.
- (275) Scholze, H.; Schulte, W. *Biomed. Biochim. Acta* 1988, 47, 115.
   (276) Aldape, K.; Huizinga, H.; Bouvier, J.; McKerrow, J. *Exp.*
- (277) Wasilewski, M. M.; Lim, K. C.; Phillips, J.; McKerrow, J. H. *Mol.*
- Biochem. Parasitol. **1996**, *81*, 179. Smith, A. M.; Dalton, J. P.; Clough, K. A.; Kilbane, C. L.; Harrop, S. A.; Hole, N.; Brindley, P. J. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. **1994**, (278)67.11.
- Michel, A.; Ghoneim, H.; Resto, M.; Klinkert, M. Q.; Kunz, W. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* **1995**, *73*, 7. Day, S. R.; Dalton, J. P.; Clough, K. A.; Leonardo, L.; Tiu, W. (279)
- (280)U.; Brindley, P. J. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1995, 217,
- (281) Caffrey, C. R.; Ruppel, A. *Parasitol. Res.* **1997**, *83*, 632.
  (282) Hola-Jamriska, L.; Tort, J. F.; Dalton, J. P.; Day, S. R.; Fan, J.; Aaskov, J.; Brindley, P. J. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1998**, *255*, 527.
- (283) Mas-Coma, M. S.; Esteban, J. G.; Bargues, M. D. Bull. World Health Org. 1999, 77, 340.
- (284) Mulcahy, G.; Dalton, J. P. Res. Vet. Sci. 2001, 70, 83.
- (285) Smith, A. M.; Dowd, A. J.; McGonigle, S.; Keegan, P. S.; Brennan, G.; Trudgett, A.; Dalton, J. P. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1993, *62*. 1.
- (286) Dowd, A. J.; Smith, A. M.; McGonigle, S.; Dalton, J. P. Eur. J. Biochem. 1994, 223, 91.
- (287) Zurita, M.; Bieber, D.; Mansour, T. E. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. **1989**, *37*, 11.
- Cordova, M.; Herrera, P.; Nopo, L.; Bellatin, J.; Naquira, C.; (288)Guerra, H.; Espinoza, J. R. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 1997, 57, 660.
- (289) Dalton, J. P.; McGonigle, S.; Rolph, T. P.; Andrews, S. J. Infect. Immun. 1996, 64, 5066.
- (290) Cordova, M.; Jara, J.; Del Nery, E.; Hirata, I. Y.; Araujo, M. S.; Carmona, A. K.; Juliano, M. A.; Juliano, L. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 2001, 116, 109.
- (291) Berasain, P.; Goni, F.; McGonigle, S.; Dowd, A.; Dalton, J. P.; Frangione, B.; Carmona, C. J. Parasitol. 1997, 83, 1.
- (292) Berasain, P.; Carmona, C.; Frangione, B.; Dalton, J. P.; Goni, F. *Exp. Parasitol.* **2000**, *94*, 99.
- (293) Prowse, R.; Chaplin, P.; Robinson, H. C.; Spithill, T. W. Parasite
- (293) Prowse, K.; Chapin, F., Robilson, H. C., Sprain, T. T., Immunol. 2002, 24, 57.
   (294) Wilson, L. R.; Good, R. T.; Panaccio, M.; Wijffels, G. L.; Sandeman, R. M.; Spithill, T. W. Exp. Parasitol. 1998, 88, 85.
   (295) Chung, Y. B.; Kong, Y.; Joo, I. J.; Cho, S. Y.; Kang, S. Y. J. Parasitol. 1995, 81, 137.
- Shin, M. H.; Kita, H.; Park, H. Y.; Seoh, J. Y. *Infect Immun.* **2001**, *69*, 1599. Park, H.; Hong, K. M.; Sakanari, J. A.; Choi, J. H.; Park, S. K.; (296)
- (297)Kim, K. Y.; Hwang, H. A.; Paik, M. K.; Yun, K. J.; Shin, C. H.; Lee, J. B.; Ryu, J. S.; Min, D. Y. *Exp. Parasitol.* **2001**, *98*, 223. Maki, J.; Yanagisawa, T. *J. Helminthol.* **1986**, *60*, 31. (298)
- (299) Rhoads, M. L.; Fetterer, R. H.; Urban, J. F., Jr. J. Parasitol. **1998**, *84*, 686.
- (300)Harrop, S. A.; Sawangjaroen, N.; Prociv, P.; Brindley, P. J. Mol. (301) Hill, D. E.; Sakanari, J. A. *Exp. Parasitol.* **1997**, *85*, 55.
   (302) Harrop, S. A.; Prociv, P.; Brindley, P. J. *Trop. Med. Parasitol.*
- **1995**, 46, 119.
- (303)Pratt, D.; Boisvenue, R. J.; Cox, G. N. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1992. 56. 39.
- Lustigman, S.; McKerrow, J. H.; Shah, K.; Lui, J.; Huima, T.; Hough, M.; Brotman, B. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1996**, *271*, 30181. (304)
- (305) Kamata, I.; Yamada, M.; Uchikawa, R.; Matsuda, S.; Arizono, N. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 1995, 102, 71.
- (306) McKerrow, J. H.; Sun, E. Prog. Liver Dis. 1994, 12, 121.
- (307) McLaren, D. J. Int. J. Parasitol. 1974, 4, 25.
- (308) Georgiev, V. S. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* **1999**, *5*, 545.
   (309) Kumar, S.; Pritchard, D. I. *Int. J. Parasitol.* **1992**, *22*, 563.
- (310) Brown, A.; Burleigh, J. M.; Billett, E. E.; Pritchard, D. I.
- Parasitology 1995, 110, 555.
   (311) Urwin, P. E.; Lilley, C. J.; McPherson, M. J.; Atkinson, H. J. Parasitology 1997, 114, 605.
- (312) Loukas, A.; Selzer, P. M.; Maizels, R. M. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1998, *92*, 275.
- (313) Brinkworth, R. I.; Brindley, P. J.; Harrop, S. A. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1996, 1298, 4.
- Waterston, R.; Martin, C.; Craxton, M.; Huynh, C.; Coulson, A.; (314)Hillier, L.; Durbin, R.; Green, P.; Shownkeen, R.; Halloran, N.; et al. *Nat. Genet.* **1992**, *1*, 114.
- (315) Ray, C.; McKerrow, J. H. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1992, 51, 239.
- (316) Larminie, C. G.; Johnstone, I. L. DNA Cell Biol. 1996, 15, 75.
- (317) Karanu, F. N.; Rurangirwa, F. R.; McGuire, T. C.; Jasmer, D. P. Exp. Parasitol. 1993, 77, 362.
- (318)
- Rhoads, M. L.; Fetterer, R. H. *J. Parasitol.* **1995**, *81*, 505. Skuce, P. J.; Redmond, D. L.; Liddell, S.; Stewart, E. M.; (319)Newlands, G. F.; Smith, W. D.; Knox, D. P. Parasitology 1999, 119.405.

- (320) Fetterer, R. H.; Rhoads, M. L. Vet. Parasitol. 1997, 73, 249.
- (321) Rhoads, M. L.; Fetterer, R. H. J. Parasitol. 1996, 82, 379.
   (322) Jasmer, D. P.; Roth, J.; Myler, P. J. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 2001, 116, 159.
- (323) Falcone, F. H.; Tetteh, K. K.; Hunt, P.; Blaxter, M. L.; Loukas, A.; Maizels, R. M. *Exp. Parasitol.* **2000**, *94*, 201.
  (324) Pierre, P.; Mellman, I. *Cell* **1998**, *93*, 1135.

- (325) Kos, J.; Lah, T. T. Oncol. Rep. 1998, 5, 1349.
   (326) Maizels, R. M.; Gomez-Escobar, N.; Gregory, W. F.; Murray, J.; Zang, X. Int. J. Parasitol. **2001**, *31*, 889. (327) Silverman, G. A.; Bird, P. I.; Carrell, R. W.; Church, F. C.;
- Coughlin, P. B.; Gettins, P. G.; Irving, J. A.; Lomas, D. A.; Luke, C. J.; Moyer, R. W.; Pemberton, P. A.; Remold-O'Donnell, E.; Salvesen, G. S.; Travis, J.; Whisstock, J. C. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2001**, 276, 33293.
- (328) Henskens, Y. M.; Veerman, E. C.; Nieuw Amerongen, A. V. Biol. (329) Grzonka, Z.; Jankowska, E.; Kasprzykowski, F.; Kasprzykowska,
- R.; Lankiewicz, L.; Wiczk, W.; Wieczerzak, E.; Ciarkowski, J.; Drabik, P.; Janowski, R.; Kozak, M.; Jaskolski, M.; Grubb, A. Acta Biochim. Pol. 2001, 48, 1.
  (330) Turk, V.; Bode, W. FEBS Lett. 1991, 285, 213.
- (331) Bode, W.; Huber, R. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2000, 1477, 241.
- (332) Demuth, H.-U. J. Enzyme Inhib. 1990, 3, 249
- (333) Otto, H. H.; Schirmeister, T. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 133.
- (334) Leung, D.; Abbenante, G.; Fairlie, D. P. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 305
- (335) Marquis, R. W. Annu. Rep. Med. Chem. 2000, 35, 309.
- Leung-Toung, R.; Li, W.; Tam, T. F.; Karimian, K. Curr. Med. (336)Chem. 2002, 9, 979.
- (337) Thompson, S. K.; Smith, W. W.; Zhao, B.; Halbert, S. M.; Tomaszek, T. A.; Tew, D. G.; Levy, M. A.; Janson, C. A.; KJ, D. A.; McQueney, M. S.; Kurdyla, J.; Jones, C. S.; DesJarlais, R. L.; Abdel-Meguid, S. S.; Veber, D. F. J. Med. Chem. **1998**, 41, 3923.
- (338) Duffy, K. J.; Ridgers, L. H.; DesJarlais, R. L.; Tomaszek, T. A.; Bossard, M. J.; Thompson, S. K.; Keenan, R. M.; Veber, D. F. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1999, 9, 1907.
- Votta, B. J.; Levy, M. A.; Badger, A.; Bradbeer, J.; Dodds, R. A.; (339)James, I. E.; Thompson, S.; Bosshard, M. J.; Carr, T.; Connor, J. R.; Tomaszek, T. A.; Szewczuk, L.; Drake, F. H.; Veber, D. F.; Gowen, M. J. Bone Miner. Res. 1997, 12, 1396.
- (340) Walker, B.; Lynas, J. F.; Meighan, M. A.; Bromme, D. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2000, 275, 401.
- (341) Katunuma, N.; Murata, E.; Kakegawa, H.; Matsui, A.; Tsuzuki, H.; Tsuge, H.; Turk, D.; Turk, V.; Fukushima, M.; Tada, Y.; Asao, (342) Yasuma, T.; Oi, S.; Choh, N.; Nomura, T.; Furuyama, N.;
- Nishimura, A.; Fujisawa, Y.; Sohda, T. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 4301
- (343) Katunuma, N.; Matsui, A.; Inubushi, T.; Murata, E.; Kakegawa, H.; Ohba, Y.; Turk, D.; Turk, V.; Tada, Y.; Asao, T. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2000, 267, 850.
- Yamamoto, M.; Ikeda, S.; Kondo, H.; Inoue, S. Bioorg. Med. (344)(344) Talifalitoto, M., Incua, S., Itolaco, M., E.L., *Chem. Lett.* **2002**, *12*, 375.
   (345) Marquis, R. W.; Ru, Y.; Yamashita, D. S.; Oh, H. J.; Yen, J.;
- Thompson, S. K.; Carr, T. J.; Levy, M. A.; Tomaszek, T. A.; Ijames, C. F.; Smith, W. W.; Zhao, B.; Janson, C. A.; Abdel-Meguid, S. S.; D'Alessio, K. J.; McQueney, M. S.; Veber, D. F. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **1999**, *7*, 581.
- (346) Huang, L.; Lee, A.; Ellman, J. A. J. Med. Chem. 2002, 45, 676.
- (347) Marquis, R. W.; Ru, Y.; Zeng, J.; Trout, R. E.; LoCastro, S. M.; Gribble, A. D.; Witherington, J.; Fenwick, A. E.; Garnier, B.; Tomaszek, T.; Tew, D.; Hemling, M. E.; Quinn, C. J.; Smith, W. W.; Zhao, B.; McQueney, M. S.; Janson, C. A.; D'Alessio, K.; Veber, D. F. *J. Med. Chem.* **2001**, *44*, 725. (348) Marquis, R. W.; Yamashita, D. S.; Ru Y, L., S. M.; Oh, H. J.;
- Erhard, K. F.; DesJarlais, R. L.; Head, M. S.; Smith, W. W.; Zhao, B.; Janson, C. A.; Abdel-Meguid, S. S.; Tomaszek, T. A.; Levy, M. A.; Veber, D. F. *J. Med. Chem.* **1998**, *41*, 3563. (349) Marquis, R. W.; Ru, Y.; LoCastro, S. M.; Zeng, J.; Yamashita,
- D. S.; Oh, H. J.; Erhard, K. F.; Davis, L. D.; Tomaszek, T. A.;

Tew, D.; Salyers, K.; Proksch, J.; Ward, K.; Smith, B.; Levy, M.; Cummings, M. D.; Haltiwanger, R. C.; Trescher, G.; Wang, B.; Hemling, M. E.; Quinn, C. J.; Cheng, H. Y.; Lin, F.; Smith, W. Heining, M. E.; Gunn, C. J.; Cheng, H. F.; Ein, F.; Simth, W. W.; Janson, C. A.; Zhao, B.; McQueney, M. S.; D'Alessio, K.; Lee, C. P.; Marzulli, A.; Dodds, R. A.; Blake, S.; Hwang, S. M.; James, I. E.; Gress, C. J.; Bradley, B. R.; Lark, M. W.; Gowen, M.; Veber, D. F. *J. Med. Chem.* **2001**, *44*, 1380.

- (350) Falgueyret, J. P.; Oballa, R. M.; Okamoto, O.; Wesolowski, G.; Aubin, Y.; Rydzewski, R. M.; Prasit, P.; Riendeau, D.; Rodan, S. B.; Percival, M. D. J. Med. Chem. 2001, 44, 94
- (351) Greenspan, P. D.; Clark, K. L.; Tommasi, R. A.; Cowen, S. D.; McQuire, L. W.; Farley, D. L.; van Duzer, J. H.; Goldberg, R. L. Zhou, H.; Du, Z.; Fitt, J. J.; Coppa, D. E.; Fang, Z.; Macchia, W.; Zhu, L.; Capparelli, M. P.; Goldstein, R.; Wigg, A. M.; Doughty, J. R.; Bohacek, R. S.; Knap, A. K. *J. Med. Chem.* **2001**, *44*, 4524.
- (352) Schaschke, N.; Assfalg-Machleidt, I.; Machleidt, W.; Moroder, L. FEBS Lett. 1998, 421, 80.
- (353) Katunuma, N.; Tsuge, H.; Nukatsuka, M.; Asao, T.; Fukushima, M. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 2002, 397, 305.
- (354) Bogyo, M.; Verhelst, S.; Bellingard-Dubouchaud, V.; Toba, S.; Greenbaum, D. Chem. Biol. 2000, 7, 27.
- Greenbaum, D.; Medzihradszky, K. F.; Burlingame, A.; Bogyo, (355)M. Chem. Biol. 2000, 7, 569.
- (356)Williams, J. D. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 1999, 12 Suppl 1, S3.
- Singh, R.; Zhou, N. E.; Guo, D.; Kaleta, J.; Cameron, A.; (357)Purisima, E.; Menard, R.; Micetich, R. G. WO 97/38008; 1997.
- (358) Singh, R.; Zhou, N. E.; Guo, D.; Kaleta, J.; Micetich, R. G. US 5,925,633 A 1999.
- (359) Singh, R.; Zhou, N. E.; Guo, D.; Micetich, R. G. US 6,232,305 B1 2001.
- (360)Singh, R.; Zhou, N. E.; Reddy, A. V. N.; Micetich, R. G. WO 99/ 48911 1999
- (361) Singh, R.; Micetich, R. G. IDrugs 2000, 3, 512.
- (362) Brömme, D.; Klaus, J. L.; Okamoto, K.; Rasnick, D.; Palmer, J. T. Biochem. J. 1996, 315, 85.
- McKerrow, J. H.; Engel, J. C.; Caffrey, C. R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. (363)1999. 7. 639.
- (364) Engel, J. C.; Doyle, P. S.; McKerrow, J. H. Medicina (B Aires) 1999, *59*, 171.
- (365) Jacobsen, W.; Christians, U.; Benet, L. Z. Drug Metab. Dispos. 2000, 28, 1343.
- (366) Brinen, L. S.; Hansell, E.; Cheng, J.; Roush, W. R.; McKerrow, J. H.; Fletterick, R. J. Struct. Fold Des. 2000, 8, 831.
- (367)Rosenthal, P. J.; Olson, J. E.; Lee, G. K.; Palmer, J. T.; Klaus, J. L.; Rasnick, D. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1996, 40, 1600.
- Olson, J. E.; Lee, G. K.; Semenov, A.; Rosenthal, P. J. Bioorg. (368)Med. Chem. 1999, 7, 633.
- Roth, W.; Deussing, J.; Botchkarev, V. A.; Pauly-Evers, M.; Saftig, P.; Hafner, A.; Schmidt, P.; Schmahl, W.; Scherer, J.; (369)Anton-Lamprecht, I.; Von Figura, K.; Paus, R.; Peters, C. FASEB J. 2000, 14, 2075.
- (370) Tobin, D. J.; Foitzik, K.; Reinheckel, T.; Mecklenburg, L.; Botchkarev, V. A.; Peters, C.; Paus, R. Am. J. Pathol. 2002, 160, 1807.
- (371)Stypmann, J.; Glaser, K.; Roth, W.; Tobin, D. J.; Petermann, I.; Matthias, R.; Monnig, G.; Haverkamp, W.; Breithardt, G.; Schmahl, W.; Peters, C.; Reinheckel, T. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 2002, 99, 6234.
- (372) Honey, K.; Nakagawa, T.; Peters, C.; Rudensky, A. J. Exp. Med. 2002, 195, 1349.
- Halangk, W.; Lerch, M. M.; Brandt-Nedelev, B.; Roth, W.; (373)Ruthenbuerger, M.; Reinheckel, T.; Domschke, W.; Lippert, H.; Peters, C.; Deussing, J. J. Clin. Invest. 2000, 106, 773.
- Guicciardi, M. E.; Deussing, J.; Miyoshi, H.; Bronk, S. F.; Svingen, P. A.; Peters, C.; Kaufmann, S. H.; Gores, G. J. *J. Clin.* (374)Invest. 2000, 106, 1127
- (375) Guicciardi, M. E.; Miyoshi, H.; Bronk, S. F.; Gores, G. J. Am. J. Pathol. 2001, 159, 2045.

CR0101656